STATE OF HAWAII

OFFICE OF ELECTIONS
802 LEHUA AVENUE

SCOTT T. NAGO PEARL CITY, HAWAII 96782
CHIEF ELECTION OFFICER elections.hawaii.gov

September 26, 2025

Chair Dylan Andrion and Members

of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
c/o Office of Elections

802 Lehua Avenue

Pearl City, Hawaii 96782
elections.commission@hawaii.gov

Dear Chair Andrion and Members
of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group:

This is in response to your PIG Report, entitled Report on complaints relating to
chain of custody of election ballots and reported irregularities in the administration of the
2024 General Election, that was presented to the Elections Commission on August 27,
2025. The PIG Report alleges flaws in the tracking of voted materials and irregularities
in the administration of the 2024 General Election.

In response, we have reviewed and addressed each allegation presented in the
P1G Report. We believe:

e Election records are verified. The statewide voter registration system
(SVRS) is the official and secure system for the issuance of ballots and
receipt of voted materials. The records, including the election results,
over/under report, and audits are verified by election officials with Official
Observers, and these records work together in the administration of elections
in compliance with federal and state law.

e Ballot count discrepancies are mischaracterized. The PIG Report relies
on unofficial sources, like USPS postage receipts, rather than the official
election records, like SVRS data, election results, and the over/under report.
Our Office has provided the Elections Commission with detailed SVRS



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 2

records and the 2024 General Election Over/Under Report demonstrating
minimal discrepancies across counties, and no evidence of systemic error or
fraud.

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “1) Electronic records—including
certified election results, over-under reports, signature verification, and audits
conducted using ballot images—are not verifiable.” Page 2.

This is mischaracterized as election records are verified by election officials who
in turn compile records to provide to the public. The election processes, to compile
these records, are methodical and multi-layered for transparency, accuracy, integrity,
and security.

We, as election officials, are tasked with the responsibilities of providing election
services. By statute, the County Elections Divisions are responsible for voter registration
and voting — including the mailing and receipt of ballots and operating voter service
centers. While, also by statute, our Office handles the printing and counting of ballots,
and voter education.

Government agencies, like law enforcement, as well as the judicial branch, serve
as third-party verification to the electoral process that allow candidates and groups of
voters to present evidence of provable fraud, and represent the will of the people.
Operationally, the public is invited to volunteer as a counting center official or official
observer to experience the electoral process and the care and time involved in opening
the valid return identification envelopes then scanning and securing the voted ballots.
Further still, voters can verify for themselves that the ballot they voted and secured in
their personalized return identification envelope has been accepted to be counted.

As it relates to records identified in the PIG Report, the following outlines the
verification of the election results, over/under report, signature verification, and audits.

Election results

o Verified by Official Observers. The certified copy is maintained in a sealed
container. The election results reports are available at:
https://elections.hawaii.gov/election-results/

e Certified by the Chief Election Officer. The certification of the results for the
2024 General Election was signed November 25, 2024. However, certificates
of election, related to candidates, are held by the election office until the
resolution of any contest for cause filed with the Hawaii Supreme Court.

e Supporting processes are conducted including testing that the vote counting
system is counting ballots logically and accurately. Additionally, post-election



Chair Andrion and Members
Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 3

audits are conducted on at least 10% of precincts to ensure the accuracy and
integrity of the disseminated results reports. Of note, the election results
represent the will of the people and the culmination of voting processes.

Supporting voted materials are the voted ballots which are sealed and
preserved by our Office.

Over/under report

Verified by election officials using the election results and records of voted
materials from SVRS. The County Elections Divisions are the main users of
SVRS which records the issuance of ballots and the receipt of voted
materials. We would note that SVRS is the database of Hawaii’s voters and
as such contains private information that must be secured. Additionally, we
would note that the election results are verified by Official Observers.

Certified by the Chief Election Officer. The certification of the results for the
2024 General Election was signed November 25, 2024.

Supporting processes are conducted including signature verification by the
County Elections Divisions, as well as those related to the compilation and

verification of the election results (i.e., testing the vote counting system and
post-election audits).

Supporting voted materials are the voted ballots and empty return
identification envelopes which are sealed and preserved by our Office.

Signature verification

Verified by County Election Officials. As the users of the system, the County
Elections Divisions work with the scanner/sorter vendor to maintain the
security of voter data and the accuracy of the software.

Supporting processes include preventative maintenance and an audit of a
sample of signatures by manual review to ensure the accuracy and integrity
of the system.

Supporting voted materials are the received return identification envelopes
which are sealed and preserved by election officials (e.g., empty return
identification envelopes).

Audits

Certified and verified by our Office and Official Observers. The records of the
audit, including the certifications and tally worksheets, are maintained by our
Office.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 4

e Supporting processes are conducted including testing the vote counting
system and the processing of voted ballots.

e Supporting voted materials include the voted ballots which are sealed and
preserved by our Office.

This allegation also needs context as the PIG Report disregards voters’ right to
privacy and the sensitive nature of voted materials for the integrity of the election, as
required by federal and state law. As sealed voted materials are not accessible, we
approach questions about the integrity of our elections, or the ability to independently
verify the election, in two-parts — 1) through education of our processes, and 2) through
the preservation of voted materials.

Education of our processes

To educate the public with information about how the process works we
frequently reference laws and procedures. Our Office has made such references on
several occasions in many ways. For example, there are our reports, which have been
provided to the Elections Commission, explaining the nuances of the administration of
elections. The following is a non-exhaustive list highlighting available documents which
consistently detail the structure of election responsibilities and conduct of election
processes:

e Primer on state and county responsibilities. January 16, 2024.
https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/EC-Meeting-Packet-01-16-
24 pdf.

e Report on Election Security: The Authentication, Accounting, and
Securing of Ballots. February 20, 2024. htps://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/EC-Meeting-Packet-02-20-24.pdf.

e Policy: Official Observers Post-Election Audit.
https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/Meeting-Packet-
2024.06.19.pdf.

¢ Report to the Legislature: Implementing Elections by Mail. November 15,
2024. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/Implementing-
Elections-by-Mail-2024-Final.pdf.

e Audit of Representative District 37 from the 2022 General Election.
February 18, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/Audit-of-
Representative-District-37-from-the-2022-General-Election.pdf.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 5

e Letter to the Elections Commission. March 17, 2025.
https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-03-19-EC-Meeting-
Packet.pdf.

e Letter to the Elections Commission. July 29, 2025.
https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-07-30-EC-
Supplemental-Meeting-Packet.pdf.

e Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s
Report on the Investigation into State and Kauai Compliance with HAR
3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the
State of Hawaii Elections Commission. August 22, 2025.
https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-
Kauai-PIG-Report.pdf.

Further, there is the information we present to the public on our website and
through our voter education program.

We also frequently refer to the decisions of the courts in which they address
these types of matters. As noted, interwoven with this are citations to the law and the
historical administration of elections. The following is a non-exhaustive list of litigation
related to the administration of elections by mail:

e Cushnie v. Nago, SCEC-22-0000703, (December 15, 2022): Commissioner
Cushnie filed an election contest challenging the use of scanned digital
images of the paper ballots as part of the post-election auditing process for
the 2022 General Election. Our Office filed a detailed motion to dismiss,
explaining how the voting system operated, the migration to elections by mail,
and the auditing process. The case was ultimately dismissed by the Hawaii
Supreme Court.

e HRP v. Nago, 1CCV-22-0001499 (February 28, 2023): The matter
concerning the use of ballot images was subsequently pursued by the Hawaii
Republican Party in 2023. This time the case was filed in First Circuit Court.
Again, our Office filed a detailed motion to dismiss, and the case was
dismissed.

e Act 27, SLH 2024: The Legislature considered and passed a law to clarify
that electronic copies of the ballots could be used as part of the auditing
process.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 6

e Cushnie v. Nago, SCEC-24-0000797 (December 20, 2024): Commissioner
Cushnie filed an election contest concerning chain of custody procedures
related to the election for Kauai County Council that was unsuccessful.

e Cushnie v. Nago and Fountain Tanigawa, 5CCV-25-0000041 (June 20,
2025): Commissioner Cushnie sought to pursue a similar argument before the
Fifth Circuit Court. Our Office and the County Clerk filed motions to dismiss,
and the case was dismissed. Commissioner Cushnie is currently appealing
the case.

Preservation of voted materials

The preservation of voted materials is required by federal and state law. Many of
the voted materials are necessarily sealed and therefore not made accessibly available
for review. The PIG Report appears to discount these laws and processes related to the
preservation of voted materials and seems to suggest that our Office should not be
complying with these laws.

Federal law requires that election officials “retain and preserve, for a period of
twenty-two months from the date of any [election involving a federal office] all records
and papers . . .” 52 USC § 20701. The federal Department of Homeland Security has
also designated election infrastructure as critical infrastructure such that elections are
“systems and assets, whether physical or virtual, so vital to the United States that the
incapacity or destruction of such systems and assets would have a debilitating impact
on security, national economic security, national public health or safety, or any
combination of those matters.” 42 USC § 5195c¢(e).’

In implementing the federal law, state law, HRS § 11-154, provides: “[a]fter all the
ballots have been tabulated they shall be sealed in containers” and recognizes that
records be destroyed “after compliance with retention schedules of applicable federal
law.” Additionally, as election results are subject to the filing of an election contest with
the Hawaii Supreme Court, “voted materials shall not be open to the inspection of any
voter until after the end of the contest period unless opened upon order of the court.”
See HRS § 11-97(b). The term “voted material” has been interpreted expansively, such
as not being limited to the physical ballots but also information identified from the return
identification envelopes that contain said ballots. Ahia v. Lee, 2023 WL 334610

' “By ‘election infrastructure,” we mean storage facilities, polling places, and centralized vote tabulations
locations used to support the election process, and information and communications technology to include
voter registration databases, voting machines, and other systems to manage the election process and report
and display results on behalf of state and local governments.” Statement by Secretary Jeh Johnson on the
Designation of Election Infrastructure as a Critical Infrastructure Subsector.
https://www.dhs.gov/archive/news/2017/01/06/statement-secretary-johnson-designation-election-
infrastructure-critical. January 6, 2017.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 7

(Hawai‘i). Further, as it relates to voted material, HAR § 3-177-757(i) provides: “[t]he
containers or cabinets shall be sealed and stored for twenty-two months in accordance
with federal law.”

Acknowledging the laws and designation of elections as critical infrastructure are
important to the context of the allegations in the PIG Report as they safeguard the
integrity of our elections.

Records requests

We also find that this allegation is misleading as our Office did not receive any
records requests from this PIG and likewise, it is our understanding that this PIG made
no attempts to request information from the County Elections Divisions.

The PIG Report states, “that Freedom of Information (Uniform Information
Practices Act, UIPA) requests were submitted seeking access to the State’s electronic
election records” and that “[a]ll these requests were denied.” PIG Report, page 2. We
find that the PIG Report does not appear to cite specific records requests. To the extent
it refers to requests by others, the PIG Report does not share any requests or
responses either by our Office or perhaps the County Elections Divisions.

While the Uniform Information Practices Act (UIPA) operates from the premise
that all records are open to public inspection, it recognizes that there are reasons
related to an agency’s duties to the public that necessitate certain records are not
disclosed. The main reasons a records request may be denied that are applicable to
election records are typically HRS § 92F-13(1), (3), and (4), as they address privacy,
the frustration of a legitimate government function, and the existence of other laws that
specifically prohibit disclosure. Specifically:

§92F-13 Government records; exceptions to general rule. This part
shall not require disclosure of:

(1) Government records which, if disclosed, would constitute a
clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy;

(2) Government records pertaining to the prosecution or defense of any
judicial or quasi-judicial action to which the State or any county is or may
be a party, to the extent that such records would not be discoverable;

(3) Government records that, by their nature, must be confidential
in order for the government to avoid the frustration of a legitimate
government function;



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 8

(4) Government records which, pursuant to state or federal law
including an order of any state or federal court, are protected from
disclosure; and

(5) Inchoate and draft working papers of legislative committees including
budget worksheets and unfiled committee reports; work product; records
or transcripts of an investigating committee of the legislature which are
closed by rules adopted pursuant to section 21-4 and the personal files of
members of the legislature.

Emphasis added.

Similarly, like other governmental entities, to safeguard information on critical
infrastructure, it is the State’s practice to not disclose IT security methodology, activities
and data, including equipment and software employed and remediation actions, if any,
because doing so could advertise vulnerabilities, promote phishing, and/or expose or
impede investigation activities.

Electronic voting machines

Further, we find that this allegation is misleading as our Office did not receive any
records requests or inquiries related to electronic voting machines from this PIG and
likewise, it is our understanding that this PIG made no attempts to request such
information from the County Elections Divisions.

The PIG Report claims that “requests for third-party inspection of the electronic
voting system were denied” but fails to cite specific requests. We would assume that the
PIG Report’s reference to “electronic voting machines” relates to the vote counting
system. As such, we would note that the vote counting system is federally certified by
the U.S. Election Assistance Commission which establish testing system guidelines and
authorized test laboratories. These test laboratories are independent and review the
hardware, software, and audit logs of the system. The records of certification are
available via https://www.eac.gov/. In the 2024 Elections, Hawaii used Verity Voting
version 2.7.

The process by which vote counting systems are tested and certified is beyond
the expertise of the PIG and requires reliance on subject-matter experts to develop,
implement, and conduct. Of note, Official Observers test that the vote counting system
is counting and tabulating the voted ballots logically and accurately before the election.
This is significant as Official Observers are the “eyes and ears” of the public in the
counting and tabulation of results at the counting center. As such, members of our
community are able to interact with, test, and secure our vote counting system.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 9

In summary, the PIG Report allegation disregards the process by which the
election records are compiled and the requirements to preserve the records for the
security and integrity of the elections. This allegation of the PIG appears to operate from
the premise that the overall structure of elections and the various safeguards that are
necessarily in place, as critical infrastructure, can be readily set aside.

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “2) None of the four County Clerk
offices have provided records that comply with HAR §3-177-453, and there were
more ballots counted in the Statewide Voter Registration System (SVRS) than
counties reported collecting.” Page 3.

This is mischaracterized as the PIG Report focuses on its interpretation of HAR §
3-177-453 as the basis of its allegations. Specifically, the PIG Report appears to dispute
the role of SVRS, which our Office has explained to be the official record in the tracking
of the issuance and receipt of ballots for purposes of HAR § 3-177-453. The following is
an outline of the processes related to the handling, tracking, and documentation of
return identification envelopes in compliance with HAR § 3-177-453:

1) Return identification envelope: A return identification envelope is provided to
every voter. After voting their ballot, they seal it into the return identification
envelope. All voters must sign their return identification envelope to be
validated by the County Elections Division.

a) Voters may submit the return identification envelope by mail or to a place
of deposit in their County.

b) The County Elections Division collects the return identification envelopes
from the mail (i.e., United States Postal Service [USPS]) and the places of
deposit to validate and receive as voted material.

2) SVRS: The database of voters for registration and voting - including the
issuance of a ballot to a voter and receipt of voted material (i.e., electronic
ballot, return identification envelope, in-person voting) for purposes of the
County Elections Divisions fulfilling their statutory duties and responsibilities.
Valid voted materials are transferred to the state-operated counting center.

a) SVRS tracks the receipt of voted material by voter.

b) SVRS tracks the receipt of voted material by district/precinct (D/P) and
method.

3) Election results: The state-operated counting centers scan and tabulate mail
voted materials to compile the election results.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 10

a) The counting center separates voted ballots from the return identification
envelopes. The empty return identification envelopes are securely stored.

b) The counting center reports the election results as a summary and by D/P
by method (i.e., mail or in-person).

4) Over/under report: Following the post-election audit, our Office compiles “[a]
list of all precincts in which an overage or underage occurred and the amount
of the overage or underage.” An overage is when “there are more ballots than
documented usage indicates,” while an underage is when there are “fewer
ballots.” HRS § 11-153(a). As such it is the compilation of the record of valid
voted materials from SVRS to the election results. Specifically:

a) The number of valid mail and electronic ballots as logged in SVRS. These
records correspond to the empty return identification envelopes and
electronic ballots that are securely stored.

b) The number of invalid conditions that occurred at the counting center.
These records correspond to voted materials that are securely stored.

c) The number of mail ballots counted and tabulated by the vote counting
system. These records correspond to the voted ballot containers that are
securely stored.

d) The number of voters who cast their ballot at a voter service center (VSC).
These records correspond to voter applications maintained by the County
Elections Divisions.

e) The number of in-person ballots counted and tabulated by the vote
counting system. These records correspond to the voted ballot containers
that are securely stored.

We have subsequently referred to the 2024 General Election Over/Under Report
and the record of voted materials from SVRS as it relates to the allegations purported
for each County.

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “a. The County of Hawai'‘i reported
19,042 fewer ballot envelopes collected than mail-in ballots counted by the State.” Page
3.

This is false as we find that the PIG Report makes an unsubstantiated claim and
disregards election processes and documents to which the Elections Commission has



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 11

been referred. Specifically, the use of SVRS to track the receipt of voted material and
the over/under report comparing the SVRS record of voted materials to the election
results of voted ballots counted.

e The 2024 General Election Over/Under Report was provided to the Elections
Commission in correspondence dated March 17, 2025.2 The report indicates
an overage of 20 and an underage of 12, totaling 32 in the handling of 83,686
pieces of voted materials — mail and in-person, for the County of Hawaii.

o The Excerpts of Voted Ballots from the Statewide Voter Registration System
were provided to the Elections Commission in a report dated August 22,
2025.3% The excerpts provide the number of valid return identification
envelopes cumulatively received by the Hawaii County Elections Division
from October 21, 2024, through November 6, 2024, as well as on November
13, 2024, and November 22, 2024. The Hawaii County Elections Division
validated 76,605 mail voted materials, as compared to 76,595 mail turnout on
the election results. The accounting of the difference is represented by the
2024 General Election Over/Under Report.

We understand that this PIG corresponded with the Hawaii County Elections
Division and in response the County Clerk stated that “[tjhe County of Hawai‘i did not
report ‘a receipt of only 57,553 ballot envelopes’...nor does it have any credible
indication of ‘any errors in ballot handling or reporting.” The Hawaii County Elections
Division used SVRS as the official record-keeping in the receipt of voted materials.

Additionally, the PIG Report references that the County of Hawaii provided the
USPS BRM postage receipts it had readily available in response to a records request.
However, these records are not used for tracking or reconciling the receipt of return
identification envelopes. The PIG Report erroneously uses the USPS BRM postage
receipts to make its claim that the number of return identification envelopes does not
match the number of voted ballots counted regardless of the fact that our Office and the
County of Hawaii have explained that the official record for tracking the receipt of voted
material is SVRS.

2 Letter to the Elections Commission. March 17, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-
03-19-EC-Meeting-Packet.pdf.

3 Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State
and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the
State of Hawaii Elections Commission. August 22, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-Kauai-P1G-Report.pdf. Pages APPENDIX-1077 to APPENDIX-
1178.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 12

Further, the PIG Report provides no documentation to verify and is overly reliant
on anecdote to support its claim.

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “b. The County of Kaua'i reported
different collection totals on different dates and amended its records with no
explanation.” Page 4.

This is misleading as explanations have been documented and provided to
address differences in collection records in the form of court filings and our previous
response to an investigation on the same matter by a separate Elections Commission
PIG. This finding of the PIG Report attempts to relitigate the previous court cases
brought forth by Commissioner Cushnie without providing new evidence and seeks to
continue a debate, dismissing what has already been stated.

For complete information, we would refer to our Response to the Elections
Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State and
Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and
Recommendation to the State of Hawaii Elections Commission.* This response details
the collection records as well as the processes and documentation followed by election
officials to log, reconcile, and secure voted materials to address allegations of
irregularities and complaints of misconduct. The following highlights passages in
response to the PIG Report’s allegation.

An explanation of the processes and differences in totals was provided in a
declaration submitted by the County of Kauai as part of the earlier litigation before the
Hawaii Supreme Court. It noted an error in which the USPS envelope count on October
22, 2024, was omitted from the white original of a form and then eventually entered on
the yellow copy.

5. Plaintiff's spreadsheet is incomplete. Specifically, Plaintiff is missing the
form for ballot envelopes collected from drop boxes island-wide on
October 22, 2024. Additionally, Plaintiff's form depicting ballot envelopes
received at the office and voter service center and the USPS is missing
the quantity of ballot envelopes received via the USPS. We believe that
the USPS ballot envelope count was inadvertently omitted when the form
was initially completed and was eventually recorded on only the yellow
copy of the form and not on the white original copy of the form, which was
used to create the photocopies provided to the Plaintiff.

4 Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State
and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the
State of Hawaii Elections Commission. August 22, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-Kauai-PIG-Report.pdf.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 13

Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the
Investigation into State and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in
Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the State of Hawaii Elections Commission.
August 22, 2025. Page APPENDIX-153.

Additionally, explanations of process and differences in totals have been
provided to further explain that the 3,004 number should have been something closer to
3,421.

The USPS BRM postage receipts total 18,149. This total includes return
identification envelopes that would be marked as invalid in the check-in
and logging processing into SVRS. There was a significant discrepancy
with the hand-count on the Envelope Collection form on October 22, 2024.
We've concluded that the USPS BRM postage receipts from October 21,
2024, and October 22, 2024, are associated with the Envelope Collection
form, dated October 22, 2024, recording 3,004 hand-counted. The
Envelope Collection form initially reflected no entry for that day, and it may
have been that a number closer to 3,421, which corresponds to the USPS
BRM postage receipts of October 21 and October 22 and should have
been entered. Specifically, there are 4 USPS BRM postage receipts for
October 21, 2024, and October 22, 2024 which add up to 3,421 (i.e. 867,
409, 275, and 1,870).

Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the
Investigation into State and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in
Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the State of Hawaii Elections Commission.
August 22, 2025. Page 12 and 13.

In summary, we found that the collection documents provided by the Kauai
County Elections Division aligned with the official records of SVRS. The collection
documents included a cumulative review of the records of the Envelope Collection
forms and USPS BRM postage to the cumulative SVRS record, finding an overall
difference of 6 between the collection records in the receipt of 27,057 mail ballots in
SVRS. This difference is not indicative of systemic issues with the security and integrity
of the election. Additionally, we detail that the official record-keeping for tracking the
receipt of voted materials by the County Elections Divisions is SVRS, and the official
record-keeping by our Office is the results report.

For completeness and consistency, we would refer to the following records
related to the 2024 General Election:



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 14

e The 2024 General Election Over/Under Report was provided to the Elections
Commission in correspondence dated March 17, 2025.° The report indicates
an overage of 36 and an underage of 4, totaling 40 in the handling of 30,566
pieces of voted materials — mail and in-person, for the County of Kauai.

e The Excerpts of Voted Ballots from the Statewide Voter Registration System
were provided to the Elections Commission in a report dated August 22,
2025.% The excerpts provide the number of valid return identification
envelopes cumulatively received by the Kauai County Elections Division from
October 21, 2024, through November 6, 2024, as well as on November 13,
2024, and November 22, 2024. The Kauai County Elections Division validated
27,057 mail voted materials, as compared to 27,075 mail turnout on the
election results. The accounting of the difference is represented by the 2024
General Election Over/Under Report.

The allegation purported in the PIG Report appears to ignore the evidence
presented by our Office and the Kauai County Elections Division as well as the litigation
considered and decided upon by the Hawaii Supreme Court. We find the approach of
this PIG’s investigation of disregarding evidence to be harmful to the electoral process
and government operations on a larger scale.

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “c. The County of Maui provided no
records documenting the number of ballot envelopes collected or transported, as
required by HAR 8§83-177-453.” Paqge 6.

This is misleading as it is our understanding that this PIG made no attempts to
request information from the Maui County Elections Division.

The allegation is also false because the Maui County Elections Divisions used
SVRS to receive and validate return identification envelopes. We would again refer to
the following records related to the 2024 General Election:

5 Letter to the Elections Commission. March 17, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-
03-19-EC-Meeting-Packet.pdf.

8 Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State
and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the
State of Hawaii Elections Commission. August 22, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-Kauai-P1G-Report.pdf. Pages APPENDIX-1077 to APPENDIX-
1178.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 15

e The 2024 General Election Over/Under Report was provided to the Elections
Commission in correspondence dated March 17, 2025.7 The report indicates
an overage of 116 and an underage of 84, totaling 200 in the handling of
63,573 pieces of voted materials — mail and in-person, for the County of Maui.

o The Excerpts of Voted Ballots from the Statewide Voter Registration System
were provided to the Elections Commission in a report dated August 22,
2025.8 The excerpts provide the number of valid return identification
envelopes cumulatively received by the Maui County Elections Division from
October 21, 2024, through November 6, 2024, as well as on November 13,
2024, and November 22, 2024. The Maui County Elections Division validated
57,690 mail voted materials, as compared to 57,713 mail turnout on the
election results. The accounting of the difference is represented by the 2024
General Election Over/Under Report.

This allegation further mischaracterizes election processes. The PIG Report
appears to be based on its disagreement with the role of the SVRS and the role of
Official Observers. Specifically, the official record for the tracking of valid return
identification envelopes is SVRS, and Official Observers were present at the transfer of
return identification envelopes to the state-operated counting center. Additionally, many
of the records associated with the counting center are sealed for 22 months, including at
times, possibly forms that were not intended to be sealed.

The PIG Report seems to focus on the transport of return identification
envelopes to the state-operated counting center, relying on our correspondence, dated
March 17, 2025, in which we transmitted various records to the Elections Commission.
Our correspondence stated the following regarding the County of Maui:

The County of Maui used the State's Certification of Sealing/Certification
of Unsealing form to transfer materials to the State counting center. The
form is a multipurpose form that can be used for various containers and
associated content. The Certification of Sealing/Certification of Unsealing
documents reflect the documents that a reasonable search of our records
have produced that could have been used in connection with the transfer

7 Letter to the Elections Commission. March 17, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-
03-19-EC-Meeting-Packet.pdf.

8 Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State
and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the
State of Hawaii Elections Commission. August 22, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-Kauai-P1G-Report.pdf. Pages APPENDIX-1077 to APPENDIX-
1178.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 16

of ballots from the county to the State counting center. All of them have
been provided, and they have been bates stamped MAUI 001 to MAUI
036.

Our review of these documents reflected that some of the documents
concerning the transfer of validated mail ballots, as opposed to voter
service center ballots, that we expected to see were not present and may
have been misplaced due to human error. We contacted the County of
Maui, and it confirmed the process by which it would use the Certification
of Sealing/Certification of Unsealing document each time it sealed
validated return identification envelopes for transfer. Likewise, we
confirmed with counting center staff that they unsealed the containers and
filled out the Certification of Sealing/Certification of Unsealing forms as
they had in prior elections. The forms ultimately should have been placed
in the cut seals envelope, but our search of those envelopes does not
reflect the forms.

We would emphasize that this human error appears to have resulted from
the volume of forms and documents handled in the course of the election
and is not indicative of a systemic issue or breach in the security of the
ballots. Election processes are purposefully layered for redundancies. In
this and all instances related to the security of the handling of the return
envelopes, the county clerks maintain a record of the number of
envelopes accepted through the statewide voter registration system on a
regular (e.g., daily) basis. Likewise, our Office tracks the number of voted
ballots counted by the voting system on the dates of counting.

Letter to the Elections Commission. March 17, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2025-03-19-EC-Meeting-Packet.pdf. Pages 4 and 5.

As it relates to the County of Maui, the processing facility and the counting center
are separated by one floor of the building and the transfer from the county to the State
was conducted in the presence of Official Observers. The transfer documentation and
processes are not used for reconciliation of voted materials. Additionally, the county
officials and Counting Center Officials have stated that the voted materials were sealed
on transfer then unsealed at the counting center, but the physical forms have been
otherwise misplaced, including the possibility that they have been sealed and stored
with other records, such as the empty return identification envelopes themselves. The
paperwork, SVRS reports, the presence of Official Observers, and the sealing process
are built in redundancies of the system. Those redundancies show their value when
these types of situations occur (i.e. there are multiple ways to confirm the transfer of
return identification envelopes to the counting center).



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 17

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “d. The City and County of Honolulu
provided no records documenting the number of ballot envelopes collected or
transported.” Page 6.

This is misleading as it is our understanding that this PIG made no attempts to
request information from the Honolulu Elections Division.

The allegation is also false because the Honolulu Elections Divisions used SVRS
to receive and validate return identification envelopes. We would again refer to the
following records related to the 2024 General Election:

e The 2024 General Election Over/Under Report was provided to the Elections
Commission in correspondence dated March 17, 2025.° The report indicates
an overage of 115 and an underage of 136, totaling 251 in the handling of
344,411 pieces of voted materials — mail and in-person, for the City and
County of Honolulu.

o The Excerpts of Voted Ballots from the Statewide Voter Registration System
were provided to the Elections Commission in a report dated August 22,
2025.7% The excerpts provide the number of valid return identification
envelopes cumulatively received by the Honolulu Elections Division from
October 21, 2024, through November 6, 2024, as well as on November 13,
2024, and November 22, 2024. The Honolulu Elections Division validated
321,801 mail voted materials, as compared to 321,695 mail turnout on the
election results. The accounting of the difference is represented by the 2024
General Election Over/Under Report.

The PIG Report seems to base its allegation on what seems to be its operational
disagreement that SVRS is the record for the receipt of voted material. It also appears
to disagree with the administrative decisions of the Honolulu Elections Division
regarding how they go about its retrievals from the places of deposit. While we respect
that this PIG seems to have expressed an opinion on the conduct of the County
Elections Division, we disagree with the interpretation and assertion that the conduct
violated the laws and rules governing elections.

9 Letter to the Elections Commission. March 17, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-
03-19-EC-Meeting-Packet.pdf.

° Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State
and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the
State of Hawaii Elections Commission. August 22, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-Kauai-PIG-Report.pdf. Pages APPENDIX-1077 to APPENDIX-
1178.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 18

The County Elections Divisions determine how they will collect return
identification envelopes from places of deposit and USPS and bring them back to their
offices to formally document their receipt in the SVRS. This includes the consideration
of matters such as the volume of return identification envelopes involved and the safety
of the workers, among other possible considerations.

County Election Officials collect and transport the return identification
envelopes at places of deposit and from USPS. These procedures
typically involve county election staff driving to the designated places of
deposit in a county vehicle and securing the ballots in containers and
bringing them back to the county building for processing through the high-
speed scanner/sorter to receive and validate for entry into SVRS. Unlike
analogous services like those provided by USPS, some counties have
attempted to count envelopes in the field, while others - due to volume or
perhaps safety issues, focus on securing the return identification
envelopes and transferring them to the county building for processing.
When collecting return identification envelopes, the purpose and goal of
the county election officials are to secure and transport the return
identification envelopes to their processing facility.

The inventory of the return identification envelopes is conducted at the
county’s processing facility through the high-speed scanner/sorter. This
effectuates the process that the tracking mechanism of SVRS is the
official record by which we accomplish the language of HAR § 3- 177-
453(b) (i.e. “The clerk shall maintain a complete and current count of all
marksense ballots issued, spoiled, and received in their county. The
accounting of marksense ballots by the clerk shall be recorded on forms
prescribed by the chief election officer”). The SVRS serves as the official
record for purposes of tracking the issuance and receipt of ballots. In
summary, the goal of the collection process is to secure the return
identification envelopes and to deliver them to the County Elections
Divisions where they will account for them using the official system.

Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the
Investigation into State and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in
Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the State of Hawaii Elections Commission.
August 22, 2025. Pages 20 and 21.

We find that the PIG Report provides no documentation to verify and is overly
reliant on anecdote to support its claim.

In summary, the PIG Report allegation seems to be based on an operational
disagreement on the use of SVRS as the record for tracking the receipt of voted



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 19

materials. We would reiterate that while we respect that the PIG Report has provided an
opinion on an operational matter, we disagree with its interpretation and assumptions.
The SVRS has historically served as the official record of voting, predating elections-by-
mail. Election officials have applied their knowledge and expertise to implement, test,
and review its processes. We find that this is also reflected across government
operations as “[iln Hawai'i, we defer to those agencies with the na‘auao
(knowledge/wisdom) on particular subject matters to get complex issues right.” See
Rosehill v. State, 155 Hawai'i 41, 59, 556 P.3d 387, 405 (2024).

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “3) The Office of Elections has
misled the public about ballot security and the integrity of mail-in voting.” Page 7.

This appears to be an opinion. The PIG Report alleges that we are misleading
the public as it relates to a specific webpage, “Election Security,” which is accessed via
the homepage to the Voting menu dropdown. On this webpage, the office provides and
answers questions about conducting secure elections. It is organized to reflect the
chronological flow of election processes:

e Voter registration: The first step of participating in an election is to register to
vote and maintain voter records.

e Sending/Receiving Ballots: As an elections-by-mail state, all properly
registered voters are automatically sent a ballot for them to vote and return to
be received by the County Elections Division.

e Processing Voted Ballots: Voted ballots remain sealed in their return
identification envelope until they are processed for handling and counting at
the state-operated counting center.

The PIG Report cites a question under Processing Voted Ballots which would
relate to the handling and reconciliation of voted ballots at the state-operated counting
center. Specifically:

How do you ensure election officials don’t throw away ballots?

Ballots are always transported and processed in the presence of Official
Observers. Official Observers serve as the “eyes and ears” of the public
and monitor that election officials are maintaining the security and integrity
of the elections. Additionally, the number of ballots received and counted
are reconciled at the end of each day to ensure there are no
discrepancies.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 20

The PIG Report asserts that this is strictly interpreted that “[t]he language on the
website refers to the meaning of HAR §3-177-453” which is incorrect. This interpretation
by the PIG overlooks the scope and intent of the webpage to provide a broad overview
of information related to election security. As it relates to the question cited, the answer
is not focused on the duty of the county clerks at their respective offices but instead
focuses on the duty of the State to count the ballots once they are at its state-operated
counting centers.

As it relates to counting of ballots at the state-operated counting centers, our
Office handles voted ballots in the presence of Official Observers and matches the
number of mail ballots received by the county clerks in SVRS to the number of voted
ballots counted by the vote counting system. This reconciliation is conducted in the spirit
and manner of the over/under report to track progress and reduce risk. However, we
must emphasize that the over/under report is compiled after the conduct of the post-
election audit at the end of the contest period.

We have a responsibility to provide general information that reflects election
processes. As such, the “Election Security” webpage reflects these general processes,
and it is not intended to serve as a comprehensive legal or procedural guide of
operations.

We also find that this allegation is misleading as the PIG Report claims:
The P.I.G. sees discrepancies between the manual counts provided by
Kaua'i and Hawai‘i Counties and the ballots counted by the State, while
the Office of Elections and the County Clerks maintain there are no
discrepancies. This argument could be settled if the Office of Elections
and the County Clerks would release the records to the Commission.

PI1G Report. Page 9.
The PIG Report continues to disregard that:
e The County Elections Divisions do not use manual hand-counts, as such a

method has been found to be unreliable, for the purposes of reconciliation.
Instead, SVRS is the official record to track the receipt of voted materials.

" The records voted materials from SVRS have been provided in the Response to the Elections Commission
Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177
and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the State of Hawaii Elections Commission.
August 22, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-Kauai-PIG-
Report.pdf. Pages APPENDIX-1077 to APPENDIX-1178.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 21

e Our Office provides the over/under report to indicate if an overage or
underage in the number of voters to the number of ballots counts has
occurred by precinct.'?

The PIG Report has cited a specific reference to a webpage on our website out
of the context in which it is intended. This is not based on an investigation of evidence,
but rather an opinion meant to sensationalize a singular interpretation of a webpage.
Our Office remains committed to informing voters of the time, place, and manner of the
elections with the mission of providing secure, accessible, and convenient election
services to all citizens statewide. In doing so, we must strategically manage our
resources — most valuable being time and funding, to reach the greatest number of
voters as well as targeting those most likely to otherwise be disenfranchised. One of the
ways the office makes information available is through its website.

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “4) The P.I.G. investigation
concluded that the Chief Election Officer did not certify the 2024 General Election
results in accordance with the requirements of HRS §11-155.” Page 9.

This needs context as we find that the PIG Report misconstrues HRS § 11-155
with HRS § 11-156 though they reflect two different types of certifications with different
timelines.

The first is the Certification of Results under HRS § 11-155. By certification, we
are referring to the results reports by district and precinct (e.g. the count for each
candidate or position on a ballot question, blank, or overvote). Our Office issues a
certification of results, in accordance with HRS § 11-155, “after the expiration of the time
for bringing an election contest." In practice, this certification could be issued the same
day as “the expiration of the time for bringing an election,” in the days shortly thereafter,
or after the resolution of any election contests. The deadline to file an election contest
for the 2024 General Election was 4:30 p.m. on November 25, 2024. HRS § 11-174.5.
As such, the Certification of Results was issued shortly after that deadline on November
25, 2024.

The second type of certification involves the individual Certificate of Election that
is provided to each winning candidate indicating they have been elected to their specific
office, or the Certificate of Results that indicates that a proposed ballot question has
been adopted or rejected. This type of certification is covered by HRS § 11-156 which
states "[i]f there is an election contest these certificates shall be delivered only after a
final determination in the contest has been made and the time for an appeal has

2 The 2024 General Elections Over/Under Report was included as a letter to the Elections Commission. March
17, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025-03-19-EC-Meeting-Packet.pdf.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 22

expired." Emphasis added. Additionally, the candidates need to have filed their reports
and resolved any outstanding fines with the Campaign Spending Commission. /d.

The earliest a Certificate of Election could be delivered, assuming no election
contests were filed, and everything was resolved with the Campaign Spending
Commission by the candidate would be shortly after the 4:30 p.m. deadline on the
twentieth day following the election. For purposes of state and federal offices, our Office
has the certificates dated the same date as the expiration date for filing an election
contest with the Hawaii State Supreme Court. The actual delivery date of the certificates
is contingent on when any litigation is finally determined and the resolution of any
Campaign Spending Commission matters. As it relates to our Certificates of Elections
for state and federal offices concerning the 2024 General Election, they were delivered
after the determination of any litigation and the resolution of any Campaign Spending
Commission matters.

We disagree with the PIG Report’s allegation that the Office of Elections did not
certify the 2024 General Election results with the requirements of HRS §11-155, citing
lack of evidence and overreliance on selective documents and witnesses. The
certification of the results includes the documentation and the overall processes and
personal knowledge of the conduct of the election.

Response to the PIG Report allegation: “5) The Elections Commission and
the Deputy Attorney General’s office suppressed complaints and evidence of
malfeasance.” Page 10.

This is unsubstantiated as the Office of Elections provides administrative support
to the Elections Commission which includes notifying the public of meetings and
materials. To the extent the PIG’s allegations somehow relate to this office, the PIG
Report presents no evidence.

Response to the recommendations by the PIG

The recommendations by the PIG are unsubstantiated. The PIG Report does not
provide source material or new evidence, demonstrating the investigation lacks rigor
and credibility. The PIG Report presents inaccuracies and relies on opinion rather than
laws, documentation and official records, and facts. The PIG Report does not present
evidence of systemic failure or fraud.

We do not believe the PIG Report has presented evidence to warrant the
conduct of an external independent audit. This is also supported in the decision by the
Hawaii Supreme Court regarding the 2024 General Election contest for cause filed by



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 23

Commissioner Cushnie.’® Since the Elections Commission adopted a recommendation,
on August 27, 2025, to pursue an external independent audit, we would highlight:

e Voted materials are to remain sealed for 22 months, pursuant to law.

e The Elections Commission does not have independent statutory authority to
procure goods or services.

As it relates to the sealed voted materials, our Office is responsible for preserving
the voted materials for a period of 22 months in which they remain sealed following the
election unless ordered by the court. “Voted materials” has been broadly defined to
include the return identification envelopes as well as the ballots. Even after the
expiration of the 22-month period, election officials would continue to be responsible for
secure handling and disposal to ensure the integrity of the election. As such, the Office
of Elections must maintain custody of the voted materials for any handling. Specifically,
the Office of Elections is required to maintain custody of the voted materials and
likewise, auditors would be required to, among other things, document the secure
storage and handling of voted materials.

As it relates to an external independent audit, our initial assumption would be that
such efforts are to be pursued by an entity other than our Office, and that it would be
contrary to the recommendation for our Office to pursue the procurement which would
develop the scope and criteria of the audit.

As the PIG Report has recommended returning to in-person voting on paper
ballots on Election Day, we would highlight that the Hawaii State Legislature passed a
bill to conduct elections by mail in 2019 recognizing that “an increasing number of
Hawaii voters are submitting their votes by mail” and that “expanding this program
throughout the State would significantly reduce logistical issues related to conducting
elections at polling places.” Act 136 SLH 2019. As enacted, HRS §11-101 provides
“[bleginning with the 2020 primary election, all elections shall be conducted by mail in
accordance with this title.” Any changes to the election type (e.g., voting by mail, polling
place voting, hybrid) would require legislation.

We would add that elections-by-mail are far more accessible than in-person
voting for polling place elections, which required voting on one day, for exact hours, in
specified locations. Elections-by-mail have expanded the time a voter has with their

'3 Hawaii Supreme Court Decision to SCEC-24-0000797, Cushnie v. Nago (December 20, 2024) provided in
Response to the Elections Commission Permitted Interaction Group’s Report on the Investigation into State
and Kauai Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendation to the
State of Hawaii Elections Commission. August 22, 2025. https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2025-08-22-Response-to-Kauai-P1G-Report.pdf. Pages APPENDIX-350 to APPENDIX-370.




Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 24

ballot to review it and learn about their options and have removed the barriers requiring
that voters make time on a specific day. Hawaii residents lead busy lives, and elections-
by-mail meet this reality by offering voters convenience and flexibility to vote on their
own schedule.

We find that since the implementation of elections-by-mail, the vast majority of
voters have chosen to return their voted ballot by mail (i.e., through USPS or by hand
delivery to a place of deposit). The following tables provide voter participation by mail
and in-person as captured by the election results for each General Election since voting
by mail was enacted.

Table 1. Voter participation by method of voting, General Elections, 2020-2024
Mail % of total In-person % of total Total
2020 551,036 95.0% 28,748 5.0% 579,784
2022 402,674 96.0% 16,689 4.0% 419,363
2024 483,078 92.5% 39,158 7.5% 522,236

We also find that the implementation of voting by mail has resulted in more
voters participating in the electoral process. The table below ranks the top 10 highest
voter participation by year for the General Elections since statehood. We find that the
elections-by-mail years rank as the top 2 for voter participation. Of note, the 2022
General Election ranks the highest among midterm (or Gubernatorial) election years,
which historically have lower rates of participation. The ranks of 1 through 6 are all
Presidential General Elections.

Table 2. Top 10 General Elections, 1959-2024, by voter participation
Voter
Rank Year Participation
1 2020 579,784
2 2024 522,236
3 2008 456,064
4 2016 437,664
5 2012 437,159
6 2004 431,662
7 2022 419,665
8 1998 412,520
9 2018 398,657
10 2010 385,464

While the PIG Report cites years and percentages, on page 11, it is unclear what
they are referencing. Our best guess is that they are referring to the Primary Election
turnout percentages from 2016 to 2024. While voter participation is typically lower in a



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 25

Primary Election, we have ranked the voter participation in the years cited by the PIG
Report for reference:

Table 3. Ranking voter participation, Primary Elections, 2016-2024
Voter % of Registered
Rank Year Participation Vot%rs

1 2020 407,190 51.2%
2 2022 340,159 39.8%
3 2018 289,180 38.6%
4 2024 271,345 32.3%
5 2016 252,725 34.8%

Additionally, we have included voter participation from the 2018 General Election,
the election immediately preceding the transition to election by mail:

Table 4. Voter participation by method, 2018 General Election

195,237 Mail
28,300 Early voting
223,537 Absentee voting
175,120 Polling place voting
= 398,657 Voter participation

+

+ |1

This shows that in the 2018 General Election voting by mail accounted for 48.9%
of voter participation and that 56.1% of voters cast their ballot before Election Day.
Election Day voting at the polling place accounted for 43.9% voter participation for a
difference of 48,417 fewer voters. The 2018 General Election is just the last in a trend
towards more voters participating as a no-excuse absentee voter and helped to
precipitate the transition to an elections-by-mail model.

Conclusion

We believe that the PIG Report has oversimplified the conduct of elections by
discounting the institutional knowledge as well as the hundreds of years of combined
experience of election officials in our Office and the County Elections Divisions. The PIG
Report appears disingenuous as it does not consider the complex nature of elections
where cumulative expertise is an advantage to each election office.

We find the PIG Report minimizes the hundreds of thousands of voters who have
opted to vote by mail since and before the implementation of elections by mail and
appears to disseminate unfounded allegations questioning the integrity of the electoral
processes.



Chair Andrion and Members

Of the Elections Commission’s Permitted Interaction Group
September 26, 2025

Page 26

Additionally, the PIG Report’s allegations oversimplify the handling of the
thousands of pages of documentation and multi-layered processes that our Office and
the County Elections Divisions handle in the course of an election.

The PIG Report appears to purport that investigation by anecdote, rather than
the documentation and accounts provided by election officials, are equal to proof and
fact-finding. We find that the PIG Report has made unsubstantiated allegations to
discredit election officials. Such unsubstantiated allegations are destructive to
government operations and seek to erode the will of the people fostered by secure,
accessible, and convenient elections. We must again address that this PIG’s interaction
with our Office and the County Elections Divisions was minimal. Specifically, our Office
received two correspondences from the PIG, both of which were related to the conduct
of the Elections Commission to which this office is limited to providing administrative
support.

We believe the PIG went further and arguably beyond its established mandate.
The PIG Report delved into a broader critique of elections in its allegations. These
critiques appear to be based on other interactions with the Office of Elections and
County Clerks that predate the PIG, not an investigation on the matters voted upon by
the Elections Commission.

Finally, the investigation by this PIG lacks rigor as demonstrated by the lack of
substance in its report. The PIG Report relies on sensationalized and bold claims but
has not proved its allegations with evidence of malfeasance. However, despite the
unsubstantiated allegations presented in the PIG Report, our Office will continue to work
for the will of the people and with the County Elections Divisions cooperatively towards
the conduct of future elections.

Very truly yours,
SCOTT T. NAGO
Chief Election Officer

STN:AT:nn
OE-25-114

C: Chair Michael Curtis and Members of the Elections Commission



MICHAEL CURTIS STATE OF HAWA"
ELECTIONS COMMISSION CHAIR ELECTIONS COMMISSION

MINUTES OF THE
REGULAR MEETING OF THE
ELECTIONS COMMISSION

July 16, 2025, 10:00 AM

Pursuant to Section 92-3.7, Hawaii Revised Statutes, the Elections Commission met
remotely using interactive conference technology. The video of the meeting may be
viewed on our website at: hitps://elections.hawaii.gov/about-us/boards-and-
commissions/elections-commission/.

Commissioners in Attendance:

Michael Curtis, Chair
Dylan Andrion

Ralph Cushnie
Lindsay Kamm
Clare McAdam
Jeffrey Osterkamp
Kahiolani Papalimu
Peter Young

Support Staff in Attendance:
Jordan Ching, Department of the Attorney General
Scott T. Nago, Chief Election Officer
Nicole Noel, Office of Elections
Aaron Schulaner, Office of Elections
Aulii Tenn, Office of Elections
PROCEEDINGS
Call to order [10:00 AM]

The meeting of the Elections Commission was called to order by Chair Curtis.


https://elections.hawaii.gov/about-us/boards-and-commissions/elections-commission/
https://elections.hawaii.gov/about-us/boards-and-commissions/elections-commission/

Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 2

Introduce new Commissioner; Lindsay Kamm, completing term of Anita Aquino
[10:00 AM]

Roll call and determination of a quorum [10:00 AM]

All members of the Elections Commission were present at the meeting with the
exception of Commissioner Kuwada.

Commissioner Osterkamp entered the meeting at 10:03 AM.
Approval of the written minutes from the March 19, 2025 meeting [10:01 AM]

Shelby Billionaire provided testimony expressing frustration over the meeting
minutes and unresolved public complaints since March.

Tara Rojas provided testimony strongly rejecting the meeting minutes as
fraudulent and incomplete, accusing Chair Curtis and certain Commissioners of
corruption, suppressing public input, and demanding accountability.

Representative Garner Shimizu provided testimony expressing appreciation for
the Commission’s work and called for transparent and honest discussions to
address discrepancies.

Karl Dicks provided testimony opposing the approval of meeting minutes,
claiming they have been consistently inaccurate and misrepresentative since
January 2024, despite his submission of full transcripts.

Leonard Nakoa provided testimony condemning the board for repeated failures
and perceived corruption, additionally rejecting the meeting minutes, and called
for Chair Curtis to step down if he cannot serve the public transparently and
effectively.

Andrew Aker provided testimony rejecting the meeting minutes and accusing
Chair Curtis of misconduct and censorship, referencing an ongoing investigation
and echoing calls for Chair Curtis to step down.

Jennifer Hunt provided testimony stating that she does not approve the meeting
minutes, asserting they are inaccurate and fail to fully reflect her testimony and
concerns.

Gary Cordery provided testimony strongly opposing the minutes, calling them
inaccurate and lacking transparency, and arguing they function more as
declarations than true records, undermining public trust.



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 3

Judy L. provided testimony rejecting the minutes, citing inaccuracy, distrust in
election processes, and broader concerns about government corruption and
accountability.

Jennifer Cabjuan provided testimony opposing the approval of the minutes, citing
years of inaction and lack of follow-up from the Elections Commission since she
began testifying in 2020.

Susan Strom provided testimony declining to support the approval of minutes,
citing numerous anomalies and a broader lack of transparency that she believes
must be addressed before moving forward.

Andy Crossland provided testimony acknowledging inconsistencies in the current
and past meeting minutes and deferred to Commissioner Cushnie for specific
corrections, indicating that revisions are necessary before approval.

Tara Rojas provided additional testimony, opposing the approval of the meeting
minutes, accusing the Elections Commission of violating their duties, suppressing
Commissioner Cushnie, and operating with a hidden agenda.

Blanca Larson provided testimony rejecting the meeting minutes, echoing earlier
concerns raised by Tara Rojas, and called for the appointment of a new
committee due to deep corruption within the Office of Elections.

Jaerick Medeiros provided testimony rejecting the meeting minutes, expressing
disappointment over perceived corruption and leadership failures, and urging the
Elections Commission to act with integrity for the sake of Hawaii’s future
generations.

Jamie Detwiler provided testimony stating she disagreed with the submitted
minutes and recommended that Commissioner Cushnie and like-minded
Commissioners contribute to making the minutes more accurate and truthful.

Annie O’Neill provided testimony rejecting the meeting minutes, calling for
leadership change, greater transparency, and the inclusion of voices like
Commissioner Cushnie’s to better reflect the will of the people and the needs of
Hawaii’'s communities.

Andy Crossland provided additional testimony, suggesting streamlining the
meeting process by allowing Commissioners to submit feedback on draft minutes
in advance, so the Secretary can incorporate changes beforehand and reduce
time spent on revisions during meetings.



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 4

Claire Yamashiro provided testimony concurring with previous speakers in
rejecting the meeting minutes, specifically aligning with the points raised by
Commissioner Andrion.

Keoni Payton provided testimony disapproving of the meeting minutes,
expressing frustration over repeated inaction and questioning Chair Curtis’
integrity and motives.

Commissioner Cushnie expressed concern that the meeting minutes were
disingenuous. He indicated he would vote against their approval for that reason.

Commissioner Andrion stated he would be voting against the minutes due to
multiple omissions. He stated that key motions and discussions, including those
raised by Commissioners Cushnie and Aquino, were not documented. He
testified that Chair Curtis’ refusal to acknowledge certain motions and directives
regarding communication with the Secretary should have been included.

Commissioner McAdam moved to approve the minutes. The motion was
seconded by Commissioner Osterkamp and failed noting the excused absence
of Commissioner Kuwada. [10:39 AM]

YES: McAdam, Osterkamp, Young, Curtis
NO: Andrion, Cushnie, Kamm, Papalimu
V. Communications and correspondence, received for the record [10:47 AM]

Andy Crossland provided testimony stating that the Elections Commission has
repeatedly ignored formal complaints and requests for investigation outlined in
public correspondence, which he believes must be addressed transparently and
in accordance with legal responsibilities.

Blanca Larson provided testimony opposing the motion, calling for accountability
and expressing frustration over decades of perceived corruption and lack of
transparency, stating that the public has had enough.

Jennifer Hunt provided testimony criticizing the Elections Commission for
glossing over formal complaints by categorizing them as general
correspondence, arguing that this practice fails the public and violates the
Election Commission’s stated duties.

Jamie Detwiler provided testimony urging the Elections Commission to
investigate her formal complaint, citing regulatory obligations and her
qualifications as a federal employee and elections observer.



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 5

Shelby Billionaire provided testimony criticizing the Elections Commission for
ignoring public testimony and accused it of corruption, citing broken elections
rules and lack of transparency.

Tara Rojas provided testimony accusing the Elections Commission of ignoring
formal complaints, urged all members to resign, and demanded they uphold their
duty to investigate violations and respect public input.

Jennifer Cabjuan provided testimony urging the Elections Commission to
separate general correspondence from formal complaints, criticized the lack of
an investigation process, and called for responses to public concerns.

Keoni Payton provided testimony accusing Chair Curtis of acting like a dictator,
criticizing the Elections Commission for blocking progress.

Karl Dicks provided testimony claiming no complaints have ever been
investigated, called Hawaii’s elections corrupt and fake, and described the
system as broken since 2020.

Representative Garner Shimizu provided testimony expressing concern over the
Elections Commission’s inaction on complaints, cited legal duties to investigate,
and supported forwarding complaints to the Office of Elections for proper review
and hearings.

Susan Strom provided testimony criticizing the Elections Commission for lacking
transparency and failing to investigate complaints, calling for either a complete
overhaul or resignations if proper action isn’t taken.

Commissioner Papalimu stated that Chief Election Officer (CEO) Scott Nago is
responsible for sending written responses to complaints to the Commissioners
for oversight. She expressed that she prefers written replies and supports
following the administrative rules. She stressed the importance of adhering to
these rules.

Commissioner Osterkamp highlighted that the administrative rules allow, but do
not require, the Office of Elections to respond to the complaints and the Elections
Commission to investigate. He emphasized that votes must accurately reflect
these rules without mischaracterization.

Commissioner Cushnie moved to have the Elections Commission refer the
complaints listed under Communications and Correspondence on today's agenda
to the Office of Elections for a written response, as required by HAR §3-170-8,
and to have the matter taken up at the next meeting. The motion was seconded



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 6

VI.

by Commissioner Papalimu and failed noting the excused absence of
Commissioner Kuwada. [10:47 AM]

YES: Andrion, Cushnie, Kamm, Papalimu
NO: McAdam, Osterkamp, Young, Curtis

Relating to chain of custody complaints and concerns; with the Commission’s
approval, establish a Permitted Interaction Group (P.1.G. task force) for the
purposes of investigating: [11:29 AM]

a) Complaints relating to the chain of custody of election ballots. Similar
information was considered by the Hawaii Supreme Court in #SCEC-24-
0000797; RALPH S. CUSHNIE and more than THIRTY VOTERS, Plaintiffs, vs.
SCOTT NAGO, as Chief Elections Officer for the Office of Elections, State of
Hawaii, and JADE FOUNTAIN-TANIGAWA, County Clerk for the County of
Kauai, Defendants, and by the 5th Circuit Court in #5CCV-25-0000041; RALPH
S. CUSHNIE, Pro Se vs. SCOTT NAGO, in his official capacity as Chief
Elections Officer for the Office of Elections, State of Hawaii; JADE K.
FOUNTAIN-TANIGAWA, County Clerk for the County of Kauai, State of Hawaii.

b) Claims of intentional malfeasance by County and State Clerks and Elections
Officers during the Kauai County Councilmember Race in the 2024 General
Election.

Jennifer Hunt provided testimony expressing that her formal complaints were
wrongly treated as general correspondence and raised concerns about missing
ballot transfer forms and lack of observers in Maui.

Adriel Lam provided testimony supporting creating a permanent group to
investigate chain of custody issues and shared a case of a ballot tied to a non-
existent voter.

Andy Crossland provided testimony supporting investigations into election
complaints, emphasizing that approving an investigation doesn’t imply
wrongdoing but helps ensure transparency.

Linda Miyata provided testimony proposing returning to in-person voting with
paper ballots and hand counting to improve election integrity, reduce costs, and
rebuild public trust.

Jamie Detwiler provided testimony detailing serious chain of custody issues she
observed as an official election observer, including missing ballot counts and lack
of tracking forms.



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 7

Wallyn Christian provided testimony supporting forming an investigative team,
shared concerns about uncollected ballots and deceased individuals voting, and
called for a return to in-person voting with citizen involvement.

Jennifer Cabjuan provided testimony advocating for creating a chain of custody
task force, citing her unresolved 2020 complaint involving a ballot cast in her
father’s name after his brain injury.

Laura Nakanelua provided testimony urging the Elections Commission to fulfill its
legal duty to investigate election complaints, not just hold public hearings.

Tara Rojas provided testimony strongly supporting a return to in-person voting,
citing personal experiences of disorganization and delays at voting centers.

Arthur Hannemann provided testimony emphasizing that election integrity should
be the Commission’s top priority and expressed concern over its lack of response
to complaints, particularly those raised by Ralph Cushnie.

Blanca Larson provided testimony expressing strong disapproval of CEO Nago'’s
performance, criticizing the lack of public input on his role and compensation,
and called for his replacement.

Susan Strom provided testimony recommending the establishment of a task
force to ensure transparency, accountability, and public trust in the election
process.

Gary Cordery provided testimony criticizing the current election process, citing
public distrust and low voter turnout, and strongly advocated for a return to paper
ballots, one-day voting with ID, and greater accountability to restore public
confidence in elections.

Tara Rojas provided additional testimony, voicing strong disapproval of the
Commission’s actions, accusing members of consistently ignoring public input
and voting against the people’s will.

Karl Dicks provided testimony urging the Elections Commission to act on behalf
of the people, citing growing public concern and his personal sacrifices since
2020.

Keoni Payton provided testimony accusing officials of corruption, called for
federal investigations into discrepancies involving the USPS and election staff,
and demanded accountability, including a federal indictment of Chair Curtis.



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 8

VII.

Representative Garner Shimizu provided testimony urging the Elections
Commission to investigate public concerns and uphold its legal duty to ensure
transparency and accountability.

Jaerick Medeiros questioned the integrity of the chain of custody, alleging the
state improperly added over 19,000 votes and called for ballots to remain within
their counties to ensure transparency and accountability.

Steve Yoder provided testimony criticizing the Elections Commission for failing to
investigate public concerns, stating it has lost public trust, and argued that
petitions are ineffective, asserting that only a class action lawsuit against the
State of Hawaii will bring accountability, citing past legal settlements as
precedent.

Andy Crossland provided additional testimony, urging the Elections Commission
to investigate ballot discrepancies between counties and the state, arguing that
while courts often dismiss such cases on technicalities, the Commission has the
authority to uncover the truth and ensure transparency.

Kellyna Campbell provided testimony calling for full transparency in the chain of
custody for ballots, emphasizing that integrity begins with personal courage and
must extend to public systems.

Commissioner Cushnie moved to form a Permitted Interaction Group (P.l.G.)
pursuant to agenda item VI. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Andrion
and carried noting the excused absence of Commissioner Kuwada. [12:43 PM]

YES: Andrion, Cushnie, Kamm, McAdam, Papalimu, Young, Curtis

NO: Osterkamp
List of previous motions considered by the Elections Commission [12:52 PM]
Andy Crossland provided testimony emphasizing that the Elections Commission
has misrepresented the status of motions by listing only their voting outcomes,
rather than providing update on their progress, responsible parties, and
completion.
Tara Rojas provided testimony criticizing Chair Curtis for allegedly displaying
controlling and dismissive behavior during meetings, particularly toward

Commissioner Ralph Cushnie, and called for greater transparency.

Ralph Cushnie provided testimony criticizing the Elections Commission for failing
to implement or track several 2024 motions, especially those on chain of custody



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 9

and signature verification, and urged Chair Curtis to ensure proper procedures
and status updates.

Susan Strom provided testimony criticizing Commissioner Osterkamp for
allegedly using procedural loopholes to avoid transparency, and accused Chair
Curtis of bias for muting Commissioner Cushnie and questioning his conflict of
interest without evidence, calling the Commission’s actions a display of partiality.

Victoria Thompson provided testimony proposing a motion to allow community
volunteers to assist the Elections Commission, suggesting it would enhance
transparency and ease the Commission’s workload.

Noela Von Wiegandt provided testimony calling out the Elections Commission for
unprofessional behavior during meetings, calling out specific members for
appearing disengaged and inattentive.

Steve Yoder provided testimony suggesting that the Elections Commission bring
in a Parliamentarian to help manage meetings more effectively, noting confusion
and conflict among members and referencing Robert’s Rules of Order.

Tara Rojas provided additional testimony, voicing her agreement with previous
speakers and urged the Chair to vote in alignment with the public, emphasizing
the decisions should be made for the people they represent.

Jennifer Hunt provided testimony emphasizing the importance of understanding
signature sensitivity settings in electronic voter systems, noting that overly lenient
settings could allow mismatches or easily forged signatures to be accepted
without human oversight.

Jennifer Cabjuan provided testimony expressing concern about the accuracy of
signature verification settings, citing her father's questionable 2020 ballot and
recent claims of fraudulent ballots and non-citizen voting, emphasizing that low
sensitivity settings could allow invalid signatures to be accepted.

April 15-4 provided testimony suggesting that hand counting and in-person voting
could resolve many concerns, but if not adopted, voters should at least be
allowed access to their own voting history, which she was denied despite
believing it should be her right.

Jamie Detwiler provided testimony reporting she was denied meaningful access
to observe the signature verification process during the 2024 Election cycle and
was dismissed when asking about signature sensitivity settings, which she
believes warrants further investigation.



Elections Commission Meeting Summary
July 16, 2025
Page 10

VIILI.

Commissioner Cushnie moved to discuss the status of motions that have been
previously made and adopted. The motion was seconded by Commissioner
Papalimu and carried noting the excused absence of Commissioner Kuwada.
[12:53 PM]

YES: Andrion, Cushnie, Kamm, McAdam, Osterkamp, Papalimu, Young

NO: None

ABSTAIN:  Curtis
Commissioner Cushnie moved to include the signature sensitivity settings and
signature verification as an agenda item at the next available meeting. The
motion was seconded by Commissioner Andrion and carried noting the excused
absence of Commissioner Kuwada and McAdam. [1:47 PM]

YES: Andrion, Cushnie, Kamm, Papalimu, Young, Curtis

NO: Osterkamp
Receipt of P.1.G. report from Commissioner Young [1:28 PM]
Commissioner Papalimu moved to receive the Permitted Interaction Group
(P.1.G.) report from Commissioner Young. The motion was seconded by
Commissioner Cushnie and carried unanimously noting the excused absence of
Commissioner Kuwada and McAdam. [1:28 PM]
Adjournment [2:42 PM]
Chair Curtis adjourned the meeting at 2:42 PM.

Respectfully submitted,

W

Nicole Noel
Elections Commission Secretary



STATE OF HAWAII

MICHAEL CURTIS

ELECTIONS COMMISSION CHAIR ELECTIONS COM MISSION

MINUTES OF THE
REGULAR MEETING OF THE
ELECTIONS COMMISSION

July 30, 2025 at 10:00 AM

Pursuant to Section 92-3.7, Hawaii Revised Statutes, the Elections Commission met
remotely using interactive conference technology. The video of the meeting may be
viewed on our website at: https://elections.hawaii.gov/about-us/boards-and-
commissions/elections-commission/.

Commissioners in Attendance:

Michael Curtis, Chair
Dylan Andrion

Ralph Cushnie
Lindsay Kamm
Clare McAdam
Jeffrey Osterkamp
Kahiolani Papalimu
Peter Young

Support Staff in Attendance:

Jordan Ching, Department of the Attorney General
Raymund de Vega, Office of Elections
Aaron Schulaner, Office of Elections
Aulii Tenn, Office of Elections
PROCEEDINGS
Call to order [10:00 AM]

The regular meeting of the Elections Commission was called to order by Chair
Curtis.

Roll call and determination of a quorum [10:00 AM]


https://elections.hawaii.gov/about-us/boards-and-commissions/elections-commission/
https://elections.hawaii.gov/about-us/boards-and-commissions/elections-commission/

Elections Commission Meeting
July 30, 2025
Page 2

All members of the Elections Commission were present at the meeting with the
exception of Commissioner Kuwada.

Presentation of Commissioner Young’s Permitted Interaction Group (P.1.G.)
report on the Investigation into State and Kauai County Compliance with HAR 3-
177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and Recommendations to the State of
Hawaii Elections Commission pursuant to §HRS 92-2.5 [10:00 AM]

Deputy Attorney General (DAG) Jordan Ching explained that the purpose of the
meeting was to hear Commissioner Young's report and recommendations from
the Permitted Interaction Group (PIG) in accordance with §HRS 92-2.5. He
explained that any discussions or decisions will be made in a subsequent
meeting, as required by law. He added that after presenting the report, the PIG
will be dissolved, and no further interactions will occur outside of Elections
Commission meetings.

Commissioner Young discussed the PIG report, highlighting concerns about
chain of custody, discrepancies in election results, lack of logs from the Kauai
County, and unexplained increases in mail ballot counts. He shared that the
group recommends official audits, holding a hearing, and procedural
improvements, including more Official Observers.

Commissioner Kamm emphasized the recommendations made in the report,
including an official audit of ballot envelopes and mail ballots and holding a
hearing to address discrepancies in the mail-in ballot count on Kauai. She also
recommended changes to election administration, such as keeping accurate
daily counts of ballot envelopes, allowing Official Observers to be present during
the signature verification process, and publishing counts of ballots transported to
the Counting Centers.

Nolan Chang provided testimony expressing his support for the Elections
Commission's audit of Kauai County's 2024 electoral system, highlighting critical
issues and urging immediate corrective actions to ensure the integrity of the
electoral process.

Judith Mills-Wong provided testimony supporting Official Observers and greater
transparency in all stages of elections, while urging for state funding to ease the
administrative burden on local offices.

Representative Garner Shimizu provided testimony expressing his gratitude for
the Elections Commission's work and committed to help in getting answers and
improving transparency and accountability.



Elections Commission Meeting
July 30, 2025
Page 3

Shelby Billionaire provided testimony raising concerns about discrepancies in
vote counts, particularly on the Big Island, and emphasized the need for a full
audit and accountability in the electoral process.

Andy Crossland provided testimony expressing appreciation for the Elections
Commission's work, emphasized the need for accountability and transparency in
addressing discrepancies, and called for the removal of Chief Election Officer
(CEO) Scott Nago.

Jennifer Hunt provided testimony expressing concerns about the lack of records
and transparency in Maui's election process, emphasizing the need for continued
investigations and suggesting a return to paper ballots for better accountability.

Jamie Detwiler provided testimony urging action in Hawaii County and expressed
concerns about the lack of transparency and access for election observers in
Honolulu County.

Tara Rojas provided testimony calling for a Statewide audit, citing discrepancies
and lack of transparency in Kauai's election process, which she believes indicate
fraud and corruption.

Brett Kulbis provided testimony sharing that in his experience as an Official
Observer in Honolulu County, the process at the Counting Center was within the
requirements of the law, adding that Official Observes should have easier access
to observe the signature verification process.

Andrew Aker provided testimony calling for transparency and accountability,
criticized censorship, and urged for peaceful and lawful resolution while
expressing his commitment to liberty.

Mary Healy provided testimony urging the removal of CEO Nago due to
perceived issues with the Hawaii election system, citing violations of the law and
the need for accountability to prevent election fraud and corruption.

Jamie Detwiler provided additional testimony, calling for accountability and the
establishment of PIGs for Hawaii County, City and County of Honolulu, and Maui
County to address chain of custody issues.

Tara Malia Gregory provided testimony calling for accountability and an
independent audit of Hawaii's election system, citing multiple instances of alleged
fraud and procedural violations.

Keikilani Ho provided testimony highlighting discrepancies in the Hawaii County
election and called for CEO Nago's removal due to ballot discrepancies.



Elections Commission Meeting
July 30, 2025
Page 4

Wallyn Christian provided testimony calling for investigations in every county for
election integrity, highlighting issues with the primary ballot, and urged the
removal of CEO Nago due to job performance concerns.

Megeso-William Denis provided testimony calling for in-person voting with voter
ID, criticized mail-in ballots as tools for fraud, and urged election officials involved
in alleged interference to resign and expose wrongdoing.

Susan Strom provided testimony calling for continued and expanded
investigation into voter anomalies across all counties, emphasizing the need for
an independent audit, and urged CEO Nago to step down.

Bob McDermott provided testimony emphasizing the importance of accurate vote
counts and requests the use of paper ballots for audits to prevent manipulation.

Tara Rojas provided additional testimony, emphasizing the need for
Commissioners to be visible, calling for the removal of CEO Nago, and urged
investigations into election discrepancies across all islands.

Shelby Billionaire provided additional testimony, expressing the need for
accountability and transparency, especially for Big Island and other counties, and
expressed distrust in government agencies.

Robyn McCreary provided testimony stating that unpaid Commissioners should
step down, except for Commissioner Cushnie, and advocated for the use of
paper ballots to ensure fair tracking and transparency.

Representative Diamond Garcia provided testimony commending Commissioner
Cushnie’s work, emphasizing the need for transparency in the election system,
and urged the continuation of investigations to maintain public trust.

Glenda Nogami Streufert provided testimony sharing her experience as an
Official Observer and assuring that Kauai's ballot counting process was
transparent and accountable.

Kealoha provided testimony thanking the Elections Commission and public for
their efforts in exposing corruption and reminded everyone that God is watching
over us.

Joe Akana provided testimony emphasizing the need for thorough investigations
into election integrity across the State, highlighting past issues with ballots and
the importance of accurate voter rolls.



Elections Commission Meeting
July 30, 2025
Page 5

Jennifer Cabjuan provided testimony urging adherence to election laws, proper
audits using paper ballots, and further investigations across the State, while
opposing ranked choice voting due to audit concerns.

Gary Cordery provided testimony criticizing the Elections Commission's lack of
transparency and accountability in election integrity, urging them to consider the
consequences of their actions and to open the door to requested information.

Wallyn Christian provided additional testimony, advocating for eliminating mail-in
and electronic voting in favor of in-person voting.

Jennifer Hunt provided additional testimony, emphasizing the need for observers
to verify the entire chain of custody for ballots, from drop-off to counting, to
ensure transparency and prevent potential fraud.

Brett Kulbis provided additional testimony, suggesting requesting the Attorney
General to appoint a special investigator or prosecutor to address election
integrity issues.

Megeso-William Denis provided additional testimony, highlighting his experience
with voting technology and expressed frustration that his record requests
regarding the audit process and equipment logs went unanswered.

Wendy Willis-Moore provided testimony recalling past issues with not receiving
Republican ballots due to CEO Nago and criticized ongoing corruption in
Hawaii's elections.

Keleionalani Taylor provided testimony expressing gratitude for the Elections
Commission's efforts and emphasized the need for accountability and change
before the 2026 election.

Mary Healy provided additional testimony, urging the Elections Commission to
fire CEO Nago due to numerous complaints and election integrity issues, calling
for the use of paper ballots, and expressed dissatisfaction with the current
Governor of Hawaii.

April Lee provided testimony emphasizing the need for publicly funded elections
to combat corruption and improve transparency, agreeing with previous testifiers
on the issues within Hawaii's election system.

Star Fernandez provided testimony calling for the resignation of CEO Nago,
citing long-standing issues under his leadership and emphasizing the need for in-
person, one-day voting.



Elections Commission Meeting
July 30, 2025
Page 6

Chair Curtis asked that each of the Commissioners express their thoughts on the
report. DAG Ching interjected, adding that in accordance with §HRS 92-2.5, any
discussion can be held at the next meeting and that any discussion by the
Commission at the current meeting would be a violation of Sunshine Law. Chair
Curtis stated that he disagreed.

Commissioner Papalimu highlighted concerns about the lack of accountability for
the Clerk’s errors, the integrity of the vote, and potential fiscal issues related to
unaccounted mail-in ballots. Additionally, she questioned whether the U.S. Postal
Service was paid for processing these ballots and suggested that their PIG might
need to use subpoena power to address these issues.

Commissioner McAdam suggested discussing the findings once all reports are
available, noting that discussing them now would violate Sunshine laws. She also
recommended considering the results from both the current PIG and the PIG for
Hawaii County simultaneously for a comprehensive response. She
acknowledged that this would delay the process but believed it would be more
beneficial.

Commissioner Andrion expressed his agreement with the report and its
recommendations but chose to reserve his comments to avoid violating Sunshine
law. He requested that investigations should cover all counties, not just Kauai
and Hawaii, and emphasized that the Office of Elections should be held
accountable. He also requested that the evaluation of the Chief Election Officer
be a perpetual agenda item.

Commissioners Osterkamp and Young shared that based on guidance from DAG
Ching, they had no further comments at that time.

Commissioner Cushnie expressed concerns about the 2024 election in Kauai
County, alleging that thousands of ballots were inserted electronically without a
paper trail, and that there were discrepancies in the chain of custody records. He
claimed that falsified records were submitted to the State Supreme Court and
that 2,000 ballots are unaccounted for. He additionally accused the County of
issuing certificates of election before submitting revised records and committing
perjury by falsifying public records.

Commissioner Kamm expressed concern about the lack of alignment between
the Chair Curtis and DAG Ching on discussion rules. She clarified that the report
focused on issues with what came into the Counting Center, not the Counting
Center itself. She also criticized CEO Nago’s unverified numbers, emphasizing
the need for verification.

Chair Curtis discussed the transition to mail-in voting, stating that it began as a



Elections Commission Meeting
July 30, 2025
Page 7

pilot program in 2020 and was later implemented statewide. He emphasized the
need for ongoing analysis to improve transparency and public trust. Chair Curtis
noted that political polarization has made discussions contentious, but stressed
the shared goal of honest, secure, and efficient elections. He highlighted
concerns about the chain of custody, particularly with ballot drop boxes, and
suggested eliminating them to ensure only trusted agents handle ballots. Chair
Curtis called for setting aside divisions to resolve conflicts in good faith.

Commissioner Andrion requested that his PIG, which is investigating anomalies
in Hawaii and Kauai Counties, be allowed to present their findings at the next
meeting. He emphasized that the issues discussed are not isolated and will be
echoed in their report. Chair Curtis confirmed that they will receive the report at
the next meeting.

Commissioner Cushnie alleged that over 4,000 ballots were inserted
electronically without proper verification and that the County revised their chain of
custody records only after the election was certified. He highlighted issues with
the chain of custody for ballot envelopes, noting that Observers could only count
trays, not individual envelopes, leading to potential discrepancies. He also
mentioned that mail-in voting audits use ballot images, which can be duplicated,
rather than physical ballots. He additionally recommended removing CEO Nago
and Chair Curtis from their roles and conducting an independent audit with the
FBI's assistance.

Commissioner Kamm expressed frustration over inconsistent and unverified
numbers in election reports, suggesting an external audit as a first step. She
disagreed with delaying action until the Hawaii County PIG report is presented.

Commissioner Papalimu agreed with not waiting for their PIG's report and raised
several questions about the rules and subpoena power of the PIG. She
suggested a fiscal audit of the checking account related to mail-in ballots.
Additionally, she recommended reviewing election results from the past 15 years
to identify any patterns and requested that all testifiers provide their names for
transparency.

Commissioner Cushnie raised concerns about the changing chain of custody
documents. He requested an explanation from CEO Nago regarding the
thousands of pages of records provided. He emphasized the need for a sheet
that reconciles the different records to certify the election.

Commissioner Papalimu recommended that the Office of Elections create a
standard operating procedure for county operations to ensure consistency across
all counties. She noted that the lack of printed guidelines leads to varied
interpretations of the rules.



Elections Commission Meeting
July 30, 2025
Page 8

Commissioner Andrion reiterated his request for his PIG to present their findings
orally at the next meeting and suggested that the evaluation of the Chief Election
Officer be a perpetual agenda item. Chair Curtis responded that they need to
receive the report first and discuss it at the following meeting. Commissioner
Andrion disagreed, insisting that they should be able to present it formally at the
next meeting.

Commissioner Kamm requested that the PIG number 2 report be received and
presented at the next meeting, similar to how the PIG number 1 report was
handled. Chair Curtis announced the next Elections Commission meeting will be
August 27, 2025.
Adjournment [12:16 PM]
Chair Curtis adjourned the meeting at 12:16 PM.
Respectfully submitted,
Wa/a, V%

Raymund de Vega
Elections Commission Secretary


https://stateofhawaii.na1.adobesign.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAcsWw9I60FrbFMyrxMoI98eS3p6fZnjjB

STATE OF HAWAII

ELECTIONS COMMISSION CHAIR ELECTIONS COMMISSION

MINUTES OF THE
REGULAR MEETING OF THE
ELECTIONS COMMISSION

August 27, 2025 at 10:00 AM

Pursuant to Section 92-3.7, Hawaii Revised Statutes, the Elections Commission met
remotely using interactive conference technology. The video of the meeting may be
viewed on our website at: https://elections.hawaii.gov/about-us/boards-and-
commissions/elections-commission/.

Commissioners in Attendance:

Michael Curtis, Chair
Dylan Andrion

Ralph Cushnie
Lindsay Kamm

Clare McAdam
Jeffrey Osterkamp
Kahiolani Papalimu

Support Staff in Attendance:

Jordan Ching, Department of the Attorney General
Scott T. Nago, Office of Elections

Nicole Noel, Office of Elections

Aaron Schulaner, Office of Elections

Aulii Tenn, Office of Elections

PROCEEDINGS
Call to order [10:00 AM]

The regular meeting of the Elections Commission was called to order by Chair
Curtis.

Roll call and determination of a quorum [10:00 AM]



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 2

All members of the Elections Commission were present at the meeting with the
exception of Commissioner Papalimu.

Commissioner Papalimu entered the meeting at 11:36 AM.

Discussion and decision making relating to Commissioner Young’s Permitted
Interaction Group (PIG) report on the Investigation into State and Kauai County
Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts and
Recommendations to the State of Hawaii Elections Commission [10:01 AM]

Nolan Chang provided testimony urging a Department of Justice investigation
into alleged ballot fraud, chain of custody violations, and lack of transparency in
Hawaii elections.

Jennifer Hunt provided testimony stating that observers were denied access to
signature verification processes, violating HRS §11-154.

Paul Deslauriers provided testimony raising concerns about lack of Official
Observer access, unsecured thumb drives, and vulnerability of voting machines.

Austin Martin provided testimony claiming he was removed for reporting
misconduct and emphasized systemic election issues and legal violations.

Tara Rojas provided testimony asserting that Hawaii’s elections are corrupt and
called for truth and justice to prevail.

Shelby Billionaire provided testimony alleging federal election fraud, criticizing
resignations, and calling for transparency and third-party inclusion.

Janet Mason provided testimony stating that while election procedures were
accurately described, the report failed to resolve a significant vote discrepancy
and did not address ongoing concerns about ballot chain of custody.

Yumi Kawano provided testimony calling for federal oversight and a revote due to
19,000 unaccounted ballots.

Jamie Detwiler provided testimony supporting the PIG’s findings and calling for
investigations in all counties.

Andrew Aker provided testimony supporting Commissioner Cushnie and urging
audits across all counties, invoking faith and liberty.

Bevin Parker-Evans provided testimony opposing the amendment, affirming that
Kauai’s election process was secure and well-documented.



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 3

Keoni Payton provided testimony criticizing testimony defending the system and
accusing the Elections Commission of negligence and corruption.

Megeso William Denis provided testimony supporting audits and accusing
election officials of crimes against humanity and constitutional violations.

Susan Strom provided testimony calling for independent audits and accusing the
judiciary of being compromised.

Wallyn Christian provided testimony urging Commissioners to serve the people
rather than protect positions of power and to remove Chief Election Officer (CEO)
Scott Nago.

Tamara McKay provided testimony supporting the PIG report and calling for legal
accountability and election reform.

April Lee provided testimony expressing concern over voter apathy and systemic
corruption, calling for in-person voting and accountability.

Jaerick Medeiros provided testimony demanding resignations and accusing
Commissioners of election fraud and undermining county authority.

Alfred Sarmento provided testimony emphasizing the need to restore public trust
and address discrepancies to improve voter participation.

Tara Malia provided testimony calling for audits, legal consequences for
violations, and equal scrutiny across counties.

Rebecca Soon provided testimony defending the integrity of Hawaii’s elections
and urging the Elections Commission to avoid spreading unfounded accusations.

Doug Pasnik provided testimony criticizing the certification process and calling
for accountability and transparency.

Keikilani Ho provided testimony criticizing the Commission’s lack of progress and
urging meaningful action.

Mary Healy provided testimony supporting election reform and accountability,
citing systemic issues and the need for transparency.

Shaylene Fahey provided testimony supporting a return to paper ballots and local
precinct voting, citing concerns about computer manipulation and voter
disengagement.



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 4

Gary Cordery provided testimony supporting the PIG report, criticizing mail-in
voting for low turnout and high costs, and urging a return to single-day, in-person
paper ballot voting.

Jennifer Cabjuan provided testimony suggesting that PIG findings be forwarded
to legislators for awareness and action.

Margie Merryman provided testimony expressing confidence in Kauai’s election
process and urging improvements without fearmongering.

Glenda Nogami Streufert provided testimony defending the integrity of the 2024
election process on Kauai based on her observations.

James Gashel provided testimony emphasizing the importance of accessibility in
elections and warning against eliminating accessible voting methods.

Commissioner Kamm summarized the findings of the PIG, which was formed in
March to investigate complaints about chain of custody and discrepancies in
mail-in ballot counts on Kauai. The PIG, chaired by Commissioners Young and
Aquino, both now resigned, concluded that the complaints were valid, County
officials were not in compliance with election laws, and the final mail ballot count
was unverifiable. On August 22, the Office of Elections and Kauai County
Elections Division issued a 27-page rebuttal with 1,900 pages of supporting
documents, disputing the PIG’s findings and suggesting the discrepancy of 661
ballots could be due to uncounted electronic ballots or other overlooked factors.

Commissioner Kamm explained that the PIG’s numbers were based on official
data received on May 30, but the County later revised its figures without prior
explanation. Key changes included a reduction in drop box ballot envelopes from
8,491 to 8,391 and an increase in USPS-collected envelopes from 17,563 to
18,149. These changes were not communicated until the August 22 response.
Additionally, 3,004 ballots were added retroactively without proper
documentation. The PIG had not included 151 electronic ballots, which were later
clarified as mail ballots. After accounting for these, the revised discrepancy
stands at 510 ballots. Kamm criticized the inconsistent and retroactive
adjustments, emphasizing the need for a verifiable paper trail.

Commissioner Kamm moved that an independent accounting firm be hired to
conduct an audit of the ballot envelopes collected on Kauai in the 2024 General
Election. The auditors will inspect and count the ballot envelopes and compare
the signatures on the envelopes to the signatures of record. The auditors will also
determine how many of the envelopes were collected via drop boxes and how
many via the post office. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Andrion
and carried. [11:59 AM]



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 5

YES: Andrion, Cushnie, Kamm, Papalimu, Curtis
NO: McAdam, Osterkamp

Commissioner Cushnie expressed strong support for the motion to conduct an
independent audit of Kauai’s 2024 ballot envelopes. He emphasized that key
election records, specifically those showing a discrepancy between the 23,000
ballots collected by the County and the 27,000 reported by the State, had been
altered and submitted to the state Supreme Court after the election was certified.
Commissioner Cushnie claimed that these records were not shared with all
Commissioners or the public, despite repeated requests.

Commissioner Cushnie argued that Commissioners McAdam and Osterkamp
had not seen the relevant documents and were therefore unaware of the full
scope of the issue. He asserted that refusing to support an audit would amount to
hiding potential fraud. He urged fellow Commissioners to vote in favor of the
audit, stating that an independent accounting firm could clarify the situation and
restore public trust.

Commissioner Papalimu voiced support for the proposed audit of Kauai’'s 2024
election ballot envelopes. She expressed concern that a similar investigation for
Hawaii Island, where a 19,000-vote discrepancy was reported, had not yet
produced a report. She emphasized that while the Kauai issue is serious, the
situation on Hawaii Island is even more significant.

Commissioner Osterkamp objected to the motion for an independent audit,
arguing that it was not properly listed on the meeting agenda. He expressed
concern about the financial implications of hiring an accounting firm, questioning
where the funding would come from. Commissioner Osterkamp also warned that
approving the motion could further erode public trust in the election system,
which he noted has already been a recurring issue. He criticized the PIG report
as being based on findings that had already been rebutted by the Office of
Elections and felt that the rebuttal had been largely ignored by the Commission.
Ultimately, he cautioned that moving forward with the motion could create more
problems and deepen public skepticism.

Commissioner Andrion voiced strong support for the motion to conduct an
independent audit of Kauai’'s 2024 election ballot envelopes. He criticized
Commissioner Osterkamp’s objection to the motion as improper. Commissioner
Andrion emphasized that an audit is a nonpartisan action that promotes
transparency, something the public has clearly demanded. Drawing from his
experience on other boards and commissions, he noted that it is standard
practice for deliberation and decision-making to occur during a second meeting



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 6

of a PIG. He concluded by urging the Commission to take action and vote in
favor of the audit.

Commissioner Kamm clarified that the PIG’s work was focused on fact-finding,
not accusing anyone of fraud. She emphasized the need for a verifiable paper
trail to support the electronic records used in ballot counting. Commissioner
Kamm expressed concern that election officials repeatedly asked the public to
“trust the system” without providing transparent documentation. She noted that
ballots are handled multiple times before being scanned, yet proper records are
not maintained, which undermines accountability.

Commissioner Cushnie followed by questioning whether all Commissioners had
reviewed the chain of custody documents and other evidence he received, which
he claimed showed discrepancies. He stated that these materials had not been
shared with the full Commission or the public and reiterated his call for an
independent audit. Commissioner Cushnie argued that withholding this
information was equivalent to hiding the truth.

Commissioner Osterkamp responded by thanking Commissioner Kamm for her
work and clarifying that she had not accused anyone of fraud. However, he
criticized Commissioner Cushnie for repeatedly making such claims, calling them
dangerous and harmful to the system. He also pointed out that the Hawaii
Supreme Court had already ruled against Commissioner Cushnie’s earlier
allegations, and he cautioned the Commission against revisiting issues that had
already been legally resolved.

Commissioner Cushnie alleged that the County of Kauai falsified and revised
ballot data submitted to the state Supreme Court. He cited specific examples,
including an overreporting of 750 ballots on October 22 and additional
unexplained entries on November 5 and 20, totaling over 1,200 ballots added to
already disputed figures. Commissioner Cushnie emphasized that these
discrepancies were not addressed by the court and called for an independent
audit to determine whether the records were accurate or manipulated.

He argued that verifying the records through mail receipts and physical ballot
counts would clarify the situation. He pledged to publicly apologize if the audit
proved the records were correct, but stressed that without such a review, the
Commission would be ignoring unresolved issues. He urged the Commission not
to bury the matter and to allow transparency through an independent
investigation.

Commissioner McAdam opposed the motion to hire an independent auditor,
citing the high cost, which she estimated at over $100,000, as an unjustifiable
burden on Hawaii taxpayers. She characterized the audit as part of



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 7

Commissioner Cushnie’s personal campaign following his unsuccessful Supreme
Court case. Commissioner McAdam noted that the Office of Elections had
already addressed many of the concerns in its report, including clarifying the
purpose of certain forms used for internal tracking.

While acknowledging that the election system is not perfect and that some
discrepancies exist, Commissioner McAdam argued that the better use of public
funds would be to improve and clarify existing election rules and procedures. She
advocated for standardizing practices across counties rather than spending large
sums on an audit she believes is unnecessary at this time.

Commissioner Osterkamp raised concerns about the financial burden of
conducting an independent audit, questioning who would cover the estimated six-
figure cost. Chair Curtis acknowledged the uncertainty and suggested the
legislature might need to be approached for funding. Commissioner Kamm
responded by emphasizing that the Supreme Court had affirmed the Elections
Commission’s authority to investigate such matters and that the audit would help
resolve ongoing discrepancies. She expressed hope that the audit would confirm
everything was in order but stressed that the current lack of consistent records
made that impossible.

Commissioner Kamm argued that if the audit revealed only poor recordkeeping, it
would still be worthwhile, as it could lead to clearer rules and better alignment
between paper and electronic records. Chair Curtis added that Kauai had been
the pilot for mail-in voting in the state, and this audit could serve as a valuable
case study to improve election procedures statewide.

Commissioner Cushnie recounted his experience during the District 37 audit,
expressing frustration over unanswered questions and a lack of transparency. He
claimed that ballots were disturbed before the audit began and that his requests
for documentation, specifically the last two purchase orders for tamper-proof
seals and after-hours entry logs for the ballot storage facility, were denied.
Commissioner Cushnie emphasized that the purpose of badge access is to track
who enters and exits the storage area, particularly outside of regular hours, and
argued that this information should be readily available. He urged the
Commission to support his motion to obtain these logs, stating that such
transparency is essential for accountability.

Commissioner Cushnie moved to subpoena the after-hour entry and exit logs for
the secure storage area holding the ballots from April 2024 to present. The
motion was seconded by Commissioner Andrion and failed. [12:22 PM]

YES: Andrion, Cushnie, Kamm, Papalimu



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 8

NO: McAdam, Osterkamp, Curtis

Commissioner Cushnie argued that a 4—3 vote should be sufficient to pass a
motion, given that only seven Commissioners were currently active due to two
resignations. Chair Curtis disagreed, stating that the Commission is legally
defined as a nine-member body, and therefore five votes are required for any
motion to pass. This interpretation was supported by the Deputy Attorney
General (DAG) Jordan Ching, who cited HRS 11-7 and confirmed that a majority
of the full membership, regardless of vacancies, is needed.

Receipt of PIG report from Commissioner Andrion and correspondence from PIG
regarding investigation on:

a) Complaints relating to the chain of custody of election ballots. Similar
information was considered by the Hawaii Supreme Court in #SCEC-24-
0000797; RALPH S. CUSHNIE and more than THIRTY VOTERS, Plaintiffs, vs.
SCOTT NAGO, as Chief Elections Officer for the Office of Elections, State of
Hawaii, and JADE FOUNTAIN-TANIGAWA, County Clerk for the County of
Kauai, Defendants, and by the 5th Circuit Court in #5CCV-25-0000041; RALPH
S. CUSHNIE, Pro Se vs. SCOTT NAGQO, in his official capacity as Chief
Elections Officer for the Office of Elections, State of Hawaii; JADE K.
FOUNTAIN-TANIGAWA, County Clerk for the County of Kauai, State of Hawaii;
and

b) Claims of intentional malfeasance by County and State Clerks and Elections
Officers during the Kauai County Councilmember Race in the 2024 General
Election.

Commissioners Andrion and Kamm presented their report on behalf of the PIG
formed to investigate election integrity issues in Hawaii County’s 2024 General
Election. The report outlined five major findings, provided supporting evidence
from multiple counties, and concluded with three key recommendations.

Key Findings:

e Electronic Records Are Unverifiable: The PIG found that Hawaii’s election
results, based on electronic systems, cannot be independently verified.
Requests for access to ballot images, audit logs, and other electronic data
were denied, creating a “black box” system that lacks transparency.

e Chain of Custody Failures: None of the four county clerk offices provided
chain of custody records compliant with HAR 3-177-453. In some cases,
more ballots were counted in the Statewide Voter Registration System



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025

Page 9

(SVRS) than were physically collected, raising serious concerns about
ballot legitimacy.

Misleading Public Information: The Office of Elections was found to have
misled the public about ballot security. Claims that ballots are always
handled in the presence of official observers and reconciled daily were
contradicted by the PIG’s findings.

Improper Certification of Results: The Chief Election Officer certified the
2024 election results despite unresolved discrepancies and missing
documentation, particularly from Maui County. Certification occurred even
while legal challenges were pending.

Suppression of Complaints and Evidence: The PIG documented a pattern
of suppression by the Office of Elections and the Deputy Attorney
General’s Office, including redacted communications and legal opinions
that limited transparency and oversight.

County-Specific Issues:

1. Hawaii County: Reported 19,042 more ballots counted than envelopes
collected.

2. Kauai County: Discrepancies in reported ballot totals, unexplained
changes to records, and mismatches with USPS receipts.

3. Maui County: Missing documentation for ballot transfers.

4. Honolulu County: No records of ballot counts per drop box; officials cited
lack of time and manpower.

Recommendations:

1. Independent Audit: Conduct a manual audit of all ballot envelopes, USPS
receipts, and mail-in ballots across all counties, including signature
verification.

2. Return to In-Person Voting: Eliminate mail-in voting due to its
unverifiability and replace it with in-person voting using paper ballots on
Election Day.

3. Replace the Chief Election Officer: Terminate CEO Nago’s employment

due to repeated failures to follow election laws, maintain records, and
ensure transparency.



Elections Commission Meeting
August 27, 2025
Page 10

V. Adjournment [1:08 PM]
Chair Curtis adjourned the meeting at 1:08 PM.

Respectfully submitted,

Tl

Nicole Noel
Elections Commission Secretary



From: Ralph Cushnie (EC)

To: OE.Elections.Commission

Cc: OIP

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Corrections/Additions to Meeting Minutes for August 27 2025 Meeting
Date: Sunday, September 21, 2025 12:10:38 PM

Dear Chair Curtis,

| respectfully request that the official written summary and minutes of the August 27,
2025 Regular Meeting of the Elections Commission be amended to reflect the following
items which were not recorded:

1. Office of Elections staff in attendance:
O Scott Nago, Chief Election Officer
© Aaron Schulaner General Counsel
© Aulii Tenn
2. Commissioner Participation:
During agenda item Il (“Discussion and decision making relating to Commissioner
Young’s Permitted Interaction Group (PIG) report on the Investigation into State
and Kauai County Compliance with HAR 3-177 and Discrepancies in Ballot Counts
and Recommendations to the State of Hawai‘i Elections Commission”), Chair
Curtis did not allow Commissioner Cushnie to be recognized and continue
discussion and decision-making. This item had many complex issues and the chair
would not allow further discussion.
3. Ejection from Meeting:
Chair Curtis declared that Commissioner Cushnie was ejected from the meeting
for allegedly obstructing the agenda, even though the agenda item was to discuss
and make decisions on Item Ill. Immediately following this declaration,
Commissioner Cushnie’s microphone was muted, preventing further
participation.
Legal Basis for Request
Pursuant to HRS Chapter 92 (Sunshine Law), minutes must “give a true reflection of the
matters discussed by the board and the views of the participants.” Omitting these
actions leaves the record incomplete and inconsistent with the statutory requirement
that the minutes accurately reflect both the proceedings and member participation.
Requested Action
I request that these additions be made to the meeting record so that the public, the
Legislature, and future reviewers have a complete and accurate account of the
Commission’s proceedings.
Respectfully,
Ralph Cushnie






FROM: Dylan Andrion, Chair & Commissioner
State of Hawai‘i Elections Commission/Permitted Interaction Group (PIG)
Lindsay Kamm, Commissioner
State of Hawai‘i Elections Commission/Permitted Interaction Group (PIG)
Ralph Cushnie, Commissioner
State of Hawai‘i Elections Commission/Permitted Interaction Group (PIG)

TO: Michael Curtis, Chair
State of Hawai'i Elections Commission

SUBJECT: Report on complaints relating to the chain of custody of election ballots
and reported irregularities in the administration of the
2024 General Election

DATE: August 27, 2025

Major Findings:

1) Hawai'i's Election results based on electronic records are unverifiable. Election
officials withhold the underlying daily data — ballot counts, over-under reports,
signature verification logs, and audit data — preventing independent verification.

2) None of the four County Clerk offices have provided “chain-of-custody’records that
comply with HAR §3-177-453, and there were more ballots counted in the Statewide
Voter Registration System (SVRS) than counties reported collecting.

3) The Office of Elections misleads the public about ballot security and the integrity of
elections.

4) The Chief Election Officer did not certify the 2024 General Election results in
accordance with the requirements of HRS §11-155.

5) The Elections Commission and the Deputy Attorney General’s office suppressed
complaints and evidence of malfeasance.

Introduction
On July 16, 2025, the Hawai'i State Elections Commission voted to establish a
Permitted Interaction Group (P.I.G.) to investigate matters relating to the chain of



custody of ballots and reported irregularities in the administration of the 2024 General
Election.

The scope of the P.I.G. investigation was defined as follows:

(A) To investigate complaints relating to the chain of custody of election ballots. These
concerns include similar issues that were considered by the Hawai‘i Supreme Court in
SCEC-24-0000797.

(B) To investigate claims of intentional malfeasance by County and State Clerks and
Elections Officers during the Kauai County Councilmember race in the 2024 General
Election.

The P.1.G. consists of three members of the Hawai‘i State Elections Commission:
e Commissioner Dylan Andrion (Chair)
e Commissioner Lindsay Kamm
e Commissioner Ralph Cushnie

Our findings are made in reference to several statutes and administrative rules that are
included in an Addendum at the end of this report for reference.

Discussion of Major Findings

1) Electronic records—including certified election results, over-under reports, signature
verification, and audits conducted using ballot images—are not verifiable.

The P.I.G. investigation found that the State’s reliance on electronic records for election
reporting, reconciliation, signature verification, and auditing cannot be independently
verified.

Freedom of Information (Uniform Information Practices Act, UIPA) requests were
submitted seeking access to the State’s electronic election records, including:
ballot images generated by the voting system,

the electronic over/under reconciliation reports,

audit documentation used to certify election results, and

daily records from the SVRS.

All these requests were denied. The Office of Elections has consistently refused to
release underlying electronic data, citing security concerns, while providing only
summary reports. Receiving an electronic report without independent authentication



does not satisfy the requirement to maintain a complete and current count, nor does it
ensure the reliability and validity of election results.

Furthermore, requests for third-party inspection of the electronic voting machines were
denied. Without the ability for independent experts to review the hardware, software,
and audit logs of the systems, there is no way to verify that the tabulation process was
free from manipulation or error. These denials prevent the public, the Elections
Commission, and independent experts from confirming that:
e the certified vote totals matched the actual votes cast,
e the over/under reports accurately reconciled the ballots received and ballots
counted,
signature verification was conducted properly, and
ballot image audits were conducted properly.

Reliance on electronic systems without independent oversight or public access to
records creates a “black box” system that cannot be validated. This lack of transparency
undermines public trust in the election process and leaves unresolved questions about
the accuracy and reliability of the reported results.

2) None of the four County Clerk offices have provided records that comply with HAR
§3-177-453, and there were more ballots counted in the Statewide Voter Registration
System (SVRS) than counties reported collecting.
Our review of records shows that the number of ballot envelopes reported in the
Statewide Voter Registration System (SVRS) exceeds the number of envelopes that
were collected by Kauai County and Hawai‘i County. There is no lawful mechanism
under Hawai‘i election law for the number of ballot envelopes to increase after
collection. The number of envelopes can only decrease due to:

e a non-matching signature,

e an envelope containing an incorrect ballot,

e an envelope containing no ballot, or

e an envelope containing multiple ballots.

The absence of daily collection records from Honolulu and Maui, combined with
unexplained post-collection increases in the Statewide Voter Registration System
(SVRS) for Kaua'i and Hawai‘i, constitutes a clear violation of HAR §3-177-453 and
renders mail-in voting unverifiable.

a. The County of Hawai‘i reported 19,042 fewer ballot envelopes collected than
mail-in ballots counted by the State.



In the 2024 General Election, official records from Hawai‘i County show that:
e 27,912 ballots were collected from official drop boxes (2024 General
Election Drop Box Logs)
e 29,641 ballots were received from the United States Postal Service (2024
General Election BRM Receipts)
e Total physical collections: 57,553 ballot envelopes

However, the State’s General Election 2024 Summary Report lists 76,595 mail-in
ballots counted for Hawai‘i County, which is 19,042 more ballots than the number
of ballot envelopes collected. These additional ballots appear in the Statewide
Voter Registration System (SVRS) without any physical paper trail, raising
questions about where they came from and if they even exist.

When candidate Keikilani Ho asked about this discrepancy, Hawai‘i County
Elections Program Administrator Cori Saiki responded: “USPS doesn’t always
provide us with receipts which is the difference in the envelope count you are
inquiring about. Our office manually counts all election envelopes received daily
via USPS, drop boxes, email, and voter service centers. Be assured we can
account for all envelopes we receive (email dated January 8, 2025).”

Despite these assurances, no County records have been provided that account
for the 76,595 mail-in ballots reported by the State. It is not enough for Hawai'i
County Clerk Jon Henricks to maintain “No such discrepancy existed or exists
(Letter of July 25, 2025).” It should be a simple matter to provide the records and
satisfy the statutory requirements.

b. The County of Kaua'i reported different collection totals on different dates and
amended its records with no explanation.

The P.I.G. investigation into the 2024 General Election uncovered significant
discrepancies in Kaua'‘i County’s ballot counts as well as altered collection
records.

On November 21, Kaua‘i County reported 23,303 ballot envelopes received from
drop boxes and the USPS. On November 13, however, the State reported 27,075
mail ballots counted, resulting in a difference of 3,772.

On December 4, 2024, Kaua‘i County produced a chart showing 26,633 mail
ballot envelopes collected from both drop boxes and USPS, an increase of
3,330. On the first report, zero ballot envelopes were recorded from USPS on



October 22, 2024, but this figure was changed to 3,004 and added to the total
without any signature, date, or explanation. A partial explanation was offered by
Deputy County Clerk Lyndon Yoshioka in his response to the P.1.G.’s inquiries on
August 8, 2025. In that letter he wrote:
The USPS count for October 22, 2024, was inadvertently omitted when
the form was initially completed. By the time the staff noticed that the
count was missing, the 2-part NCR form had already been separated and
it was only written onto one copy of the form. Additionally, counts recorded
on collection forms are routinely corrected if a discrepancy is identified
between the actual quantity of envelopes collected and the corresponding
number recorded on a form.

On July 29, 2025, in his response to the P.I.G., Chief Elections Officer Nago
stated the Kaua'i total was 26,533, with no comment about reducing the total
from 26,633 to 26,533. He neglected to explain that the collection for Hanalei
Neighborhood Center on November 5 had been mistakenly recorded as 188,
when it should have been 88, and he was correcting it after eight months.

Taking the County’s last revised total of 26,533 and subtracting 219 ballot
envelopes removed for non-matching signatures, the resulting total is 26,314
ballot envelopes. This is 761 ballots fewer than the 27,075 reported by the State.

The P.I.G. uncovered additional discrepancies. The P.I.G. requested receipts
from USPS for the ballot envelopes returned to the voter service center on Kauai.
On at least two occasions, the USPS numbers do not match the numbers
recorded on the County’s summary chart. As mentioned above, the County
recorded (after the fact) 3,004 return envelopes on October 22, but the USPS
receipt is for only 2,279 — a difference of 725. On November 5, the County
recorded 985 ballot envelopes from USPS, but the receipt was for 655 — a
difference of 330.

Kaua'i County has a disclaimer printed on all its collection forms. The disclaimer
on the Envelope Counts spreadsheet states, “Figures in this spreadsheet
represent a manual count of envelopes — not the number of ballots counted. This
spreadsheet was created for internal purposes to track election progress with the
understanding that it would not match official election results.” It is understood
that the number of envelopes collected will not equal the number of ballots
counted, but it defies reason to transfer more ballot envelopes than were
collected. Even if the reports were only for internal purposes, we expect the




County to explain where the extra ballots came from. The P.I.G. expects a
verifiable paper audit trail that reconciles as follows:
The number of ballot envelopes collected from drop boxes
+ The number of ballot envelopes from USPS
- The number of envelopes that fail signature verification
= The number of mail-in envelopes delivered to the Counting Center

The misleading “unofficial” records from Kaua'i County undermine its credibility
and fail to account for anything.

c. The County of Maui provided no records documenting the number of ballot
envelopes collected or transported, as required by HAR §3-177-453.

In a letter dated March 17, 2025, Chief Election Officer Scott Nago admitted
(page 5) that documentation concerning the transfer of validated mail ballot
envelopes from Maui County to the State Counting Center was missing. Mr.
Nago attributed the absence of records to “human error” caused by the volume of
forms and documents handled during the election, and he asserted that this
omission was “not indicative of a systemic issue or breach in the security of the
ballots,” emphasizing that election processes are “purposefully layered for
redundancies.” Nago downplayed the seriousness and dismissed the
consequences of missing records.

While Mr. Nago further insisted that “the county clerks maintain a record of the
number of envelopes accepted through the statewide voter registration system
on a regular (e.g., daily) basis,” none of those records have been made available
to the P.I.G. This lack of public transparency and failure to provide a verifiable
paper audit trail directly contravenes HAR §3-177-453, which requires that
county clerks “maintain a complete and current count of all marksense ballots
issued, spoiled, and received in their county” and that this accounting be properly
documented. Without such documentation, there is no way to confirm that the
ballots counted at the State level correspond to ballot envelopes physically
collected in Maui County. While Mr. Nago claimed that layers of redundancy
protect the integrity of the mail-in voting process, the actual safeguards written
into the law were ignored, thereby undermining confidence in election integrity.

d. The City and County of Honolulu provided no records documenting the
number of ballot envelopes collected or transported.



The P.1.G. investigation determined that the City and County of Honolulu failed to
provide detailed records documenting the number of ballot envelopes collected at
each drop box during the 2024 General Election.

Although Honolulu election officials maintained internal forms indicating that
ballot envelopes were picked up from drop boxes, these forms did not include the
number of envelopes collected from each location. The lack of specific counts
defeats the purpose of having a chain-of-custody record, which is to create a
verifiable and continuous record of the number of ballot envelopes collected at
each stage of handling, as required by statute HAR §3-177-453.

During the election, observer Jaimie Detwiler questioned why these numbers
were not being recorded. She was told by Honolulu election officials that there
was not enough time or manpower to count the envelopes collected from the
drop boxes. This response indicates that the statutory requirement for
documentation was knowingly set aside, providing another example of how the
officials choose not to follow the law.

The failure to record counts for each drop box location undermines the ability to
reconcile the total number of mail ballot envelopes collected with the number of
ballots ultimately counted. Without these records, it is impossible to confirm that
the vote totals reported for the City and County of Honolulu are accurate.

3) The Office of Elections has misled the public about ballot security and the integrity of
mail-in voting.

The Office of Elections addresses voters’ concerns on its website in a Q&A section that
assures voters that their mail-in ballots are secure. One of the questions is, “How do
you ensure election officials don’t throw away ballots or add ballots?” The answer:
“Ballots are always transported and processed in the presence of Official Observers.
Official Observers serve as the ‘eyes and ears’ of the public and monitor that election
officials are maintaining the security and integrity of the elections. Additionally, the
number of ballots received and counted are reconciled at the end of each day to ensure
there are no discrepancies.” [emphasis added]

Election Security Q&A Guidance from the Office of Elections implies that Official
Observers are present whenever ballot envelopes are handled, but Scott Nago
explained in his letter of April 25 to the former P.I.G. that “the designation of Official
Observers applies specifically to the handling of voted ballots as they are opened and



processed at the Counting Center. This is in contrast to the broad observation of
election procedures, some of which may occur outside of the counting center and be
under the purview of the County Clerks.” The P.I.G. emphasizes that the collecting,
counting, handling, and packing of mail-in ballot envelopes by the counties is not
subject to Official Observers. Sometimes a county will grant Official Observers access
as a courtesy, but it is not required by law and does not happen routinely. The
representation on the Office of Elections website is untrue.

It is also untrue that “the number of ballots received and counted are reconciled at the
end of each day to ensure there are no discrepancies.” Clearly, this does not happen,
as evidenced in the multiple reports from Kaua'‘i County discussed above. In addition,
the City and County of Honolulu and Maui County did not maintain any daily records of
the number of ballot envelopes collected, as reported above. Hawai‘i County also
delivered reports that revealed discrepancies, but there was no reconciliation “at the
end of each day.”

The language on the website refers to the meaning of HAR §3-177-453, which states
“All ballots shall be safeguarded to prevent mishandling or misuse.” If there is no record
of the ballots until the envelopes are scanned into SVRS, there is nothing to prevent
mishandling or misuse. There are not multiple ways to interpret this language, yet Kaua'i
Deputy County Clerk Lyndon Yoshioka wrote: “For the record, the State and Counties
fulfill requirements of HAR §3-177-453(b) through TotalVote, the statewide voter
registration system and system of record for maintaining the complete and current count
of ballots issued, spoiled, and received by the County (Letter dated August 8, 2025).”
These electronic records, however, are summaries, and ballot envelopes can be in a
county’s possession for days or weeks before a summary report is created. The count is
not current, and on any given day it is not complete. For example, the first day ballot
envelopes were received on Kaua‘i was October 18, 2024, when they recorded 81
envelopes from USPS. But the first date of an Envelope Transfer Form, which is based
on scanning the envelopes into the system, was October 26, 2024. So, there was no
“‘complete and current count” for eight days.

The members of this P.I.G. join the many citizens who have testified at Elections
Commission meetings in expecting that “a complete and current count of marksense
ballots” consists of paper records that tally the number of ballot envelopes or ballots at
various points of collection or transfer. The purpose of this paper trail is to document
that there has not been any tampering of ballots.



It is not known what happens in the County Clerk’s office, but it is presumed that
someone feeds the ballot envelopes into a scanner that records the voter information
and assesses the signature, thereby creating a baseline for “a complete and current
count.” But there are problems with this methodology: a) the envelopes have already
been collected or delivered, handled, and counted before they are scanned, and b)
those electronic records can only be accessed by staff and cannot be verified by
anyone else. In other words, there is NO transparency and NO accountability.

The P.1.G. sees discrepancies between the manual counts provided by Kaua'‘i and
Hawai‘i Counties and the ballots counted by the State, while the Office of Elections and
the County Clerks maintain there are no discrepancies. This argument could be settled
if the Office of Elections and the County Clerks would release the records to the
Commission. There is no justification for suppressing the records. Officials presume
exclusive control over the records and act as though the public has no right to the
underlying truth. Continuing to insist that it doesn’t matter how many envelopes were
collected from the drop boxes or delivered by USPS will not satisfy the public’s demand
for verification.

4) The P.I.G. investigation concluded that the Chief Election Officer did not certify the
2024 General Election results in accordance with the requirements of HRS §11-155.

Despite the requirements of HRS §11-155 Certification of results of election (see
Addendum), the Chief Election Officer certified the 2024 election results without
reconciling the documented discrepancies in ballot counts between the counties and the
State, without producing a paper trail, and without making the overage/underage report
available for public inspection in a timely and transparent manner.

Ralph Cushnie challenged the Kaua‘i election results in a case filed at the Hawai‘i
Supreme Court on November 25. On the same day, Scott Nago certified the election.
On December 2, before the case was even heard, the Kaua'‘i County Clerk certified the
County Council election and administered oaths of office at an inauguration ceremony.
On December 18, the County Council met and conducted business, and it was not until
December 20 that the Supreme Court dismissed the case. When questioned about
certifying the election before “the expiration of time for bringing an election contest,” the
County Clerk wrote that the Councilmembers’ certificates were withheld until after the
judgment on December 20. That seems a moot point, considering that the Council was
sworn in, attended meetings, and conducted business.



Significantly, it was not until March 17, 2025—months after the election had been
certified—that the Chief Election Officer admitted in writing to the Elections Commission
that Maui County had failed to produce the required records documenting ballot
collections and transfers. This admission demonstrates that the certification of the
election was completed without knowledge of whether Maui County’s statutory
documentation requirements had been met, in direct conflict with the reconciliation
process mandated by HRS §11-155.

5) The Elections Commission and the Deputy Attorney General’s office suppressed
complaints and evidence of malfeasance.

The P.1.G. investigation has documented a pattern of suppression of complaints, denial
of access to evidence, and obstruction of oversight by the Office of Elections, the
Attorney General’'s (AG) office assigned to the Office of Elections, and the Attorney
General’s (AG) office assigned to the Elections Commission.

Records reviewed by the P.I.G. show that the Deputy Attorney General’s office
consistently advises against transparency by issuing legal opinions that restrict public
access to key election records. Notably, the DAG’s office has authorized and defended
the redaction of email communication among the Chair of the Elections Commission,
Chief Election Officer Scott Nago, and staff of the Office of Elections. These redactions
have been claimed under attorney—client privilege, even though it is the Elections
Commission, not the Chair, that is the client. This interpretation has been repeatedly
used to shield discussions and decision-making from both commissioners and the
public.

Even though the duties of the Elections Commission, pursuant to HRS § 11-7.5(3),
include investigating and holding hearings for receiving evidence of violations and
complaints, a majority of commissioners have consistently voted “NO” on motions to
investigate complaints submitted by members of the public. Despite repeated public
requests for investigation, numerous complaints have been left unresolved. The
formation of this P.1.G. was long overdue, and we are grateful for the opportunity to
conduct this investigation.

Recommendations

1) An external, independent manual audit of all ballot envelopes, USPS receipts, and
mail-in ballots is required to reconcile ballot discrepancies for the 2024 General
Election.

10



2)

The P.I.G. investigation concludes that Hawai‘i’s election oversight structure is
fundamentally incapable of self-policing. We recommend an external audit be
conducted by an independent, non-government body to the same standards as
apply to financial institutions. Prior to the audit, all records must remain in storage
and out of reach of any officials or staff. This audit should consist of manual counts
of:

e Dballot envelopes for each county,

e USPS receipts for each county, and

e mail-in ballots for each county.
The audit should also include an examination of the signatures on the ballot
envelopes compared to official signatures of record.

Return to in-person voting on paper ballots on Election Day.

After studying the pitfalls associated with mail-in voting, the P.I.G. does not

recommend trying to bolster the mail-in voting model in an effort to improve

accountability and transparency. Modifying the system will require trial and error that
will take years to accomplish. Rather, the P.l.G. recommends that the State of

Hawai'‘i return to in-person voting with paper ballots on Election Day for the following

reasons:

e Mail-in voting was supposed to be conducted only by Kaua‘i County in 2020 as a
trial, but due to COVID, it was expanded to the entire State. As an experiment, it
has failed because the elections are unverifiable. The laws that were designed to
secure the validity and reliability of mail-in voting have been routinely ignored or
re-interpreted rather than followed to the letter.

e One of the arguments in favor of mail-in voting was that it would increase
participation, but that has not been the case. These are statistics from the Office
of Elections:

2016 34%

2018 38%

2020 51%

2022 39%

2024 32%
With the exception of 2020, when we were in lockdown, there was no significant
difference in participation between in-person voting and mail-in voting.

e Returning to in-person voting on Election Day will eliminate the need for staff to
collect from the drop boxes and to man the Voter Service Center.

e Returning to in-person voting does away with relying on USPS to deliver the bulk
of the envelopes. As was noted above in the section about the County of Hawaifi,
USPS has sometimes failed to produce receipts for return mail delivered.

11



e \When people vote in person, their signatures are verified on the spot, eliminating
the need to scan ballot envelopes and rely on computer algorithms. Signature
verification has proven to be a time-consuming bottleneck on election day,
delaying the election results until the following day.

e \When people vote in person, transparency is assured because Observers watch
ballots counted and recorded at the precincts and delivered to the Counting
Center, where irregularities can be addressed on the spot using the voter
verifiable paper audit trail.

e Election Day is already a state holiday that entitles citizens to vote in person.

3) Terminate the employment of Chief Elections Officer Scott Nago.

The P.I.G. refers to HRS §19-3. Election frauds:
The following persons shall be deemed guilty of election fraud
(8) Every public officer by law required to do or perform any act or thing with
reference to any of the provisions in any law concerning elections who wilfully
fails, neglects, or refuses to do or perform the same, or who is guilty of any wilful
violation of any of the provisions thereof.

The Chief Elections Officer fails, neglects, or refuses to adhere to the law. The Chief
Elections Officer does not comply with statutes and administrative rules for election
reporting. His defense of missing records, non-standard procedures, and local
variation in maintaining paper logs indicates a tolerance for deviating from the law.
His posture raises serious concerns, as the law has clearly mandated procedures.

The P.1.G. refers to HRS §11-98 - Forms and materials used in elections:

Books, blanks, records, certificates, and other forms and materials required by
this title shall be of uniform character suitable for the voting system in use and
shall be prescribed by the chief election officer after consultation with the clerks
involved.

Chief Elections Officer Scott Nago has asserted that the “forms” used to track the
ballots are electronic, as opposed to physical, verifiable forms. He also admits that
“In terms of the documentation of transfer, each county does it in their own way
(emphasis added).” Rather than enforcing a standardized, verifiable paper trail,
Nago tolerates and even defends a patchwork of different practices including no
record-keeping at all.

The P.I.G. refers to HRS §11-155 Certification of results of election.

12



On receipt of certified tabulations from the election officials concerned, the chief
election officer in a state election, or county clerk in a county election, shall
compile, certify, and release the election results by district and precinct after the
expiration of the time for bringing an election contest.

As outlined above in section 4, Mr. Nago certified the election while the results of
that election were being challenged in the Hawai‘i Supreme Court. Several months
later, he also admitted that Maui County had failed to produce the required records
documenting ballot collections and transfers.

The P.I.G. refers to The P.I.G. refers to HRS §11-2 Chief election officer; duties.
(a) The chief election officer shall supervise all state elections.

As the head of the mail-in voting system, Nago has created a culture of “us versus
them” (officials versus public) that is also manifested at the County level. He creates
controversy over simple requests for information and suppresses the facts from the
public. The officials seem to think they only need to satisfy themselves about
election accuracy. They feel free not to produce records or to explain them, and the
rest of us are expected to take their word for it.

The P.1.G. recommends that the Elections Commission recruit a new Chief Elections
Officer who would enthusiastically rebuild the Office of Elections to serve the public
and restore its trust.

Addendum

HAR §3-177-453 Accountability and security of ballots.

The chief election officer or designated representative shall maintain a complete count
of marksense ballots. All ballots shall be safeguarded to prevent mishandling or misuse.
(b) The clerk shall maintain a complete and current count of all marksense ballots
issued, spoiled, and received in their county. The accounting of marksense ballots by
the clerk shall be recorded on forms prescribed by the chief election officer.

HRS §16-41 Definitions.

“Voter verifiable paper trail” means the paper record that constitutes a complete record
of ballot selections that is verified by the voter. The record may also be used to assess
the accuracy of the voting machine’s electronic record and to verify election results.

HRS §11-98 Forms and materials used in elections.

13



Books, blanks, records, certificates, and other forms and materials required by this title
shall be of uniform character suitable for the voting system in use and shall be
prescribed by the chief election officer after consultation with the clerks involved.

HRS §11-96 Records prima facie evidence.

Every record made pursuant to law by a board of registration of voters, or the precinct
officials, shall be a prima facie evidence of the facts therein set forth, and shall be
received as such in any court or tribunal in which the same is offered in evidence.

HRS §11-155 Certification of results of election

On receipt of certified tabulations from the election officials concerned, the chief election
officer in a state election, or county clerk in a county election, shall compile, certify, and
release the election results by district and precinct after the expiration of the time for
bringing an election contest. The certification shall be based on a comparison and
reconciliation of the following:

(1) The results of the canvass of ballots conducted pursuant to chapter 16;

(2) The audit of records and resultant overage and underage report;

(3) The audit results of the manual audit team;

(4) The results of any mandatory recount of votes conducted pursuant to section
11-158; and

(5) All logs, tally sheets, and other documents generated during the election and in the
canvass of the election results.

HRS §19-3. Election frauds.

The following persons shall be deemed guilty of election fraud

(8) Every public officer by law required to do or perform any act or thing with reference
to any of the provisions in any law concerning elections who wilfully fails, neglects, or
refuses to do or perform the same, or who is guilty of any wilful violation of any of the
provisions thereof.

14



ECC-25-001

From:

To: OE.Elections.Commission

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Formal Complaint against Mike Curtis, Election Commission Chair
Date: Wednesday, August 20, 2025 7:50:13 AM

Attachments: EO and Election Commission emails 4-17 to 5-30-25.pdf

To the Hawaii Election Commission, Office of elections, and staff that is responsible for
communications with Commissioners:

Please accept this email as my Formal Complaint. This is not a request for information.
Please ensure that it is properly categorized for the next meeting Agenda (which may be
August 27”‘) as a Formal Complaint.

Please confirm receipt of this email complaint and confirm that this complaint and the
supporting documentation (in its entirety which consists of copies of 20 relevant emails of 27

pages at 450Kb) that | address in my complaint have been forwarded to ALL HAWAII
ELECTION COMMISSIONERS.

My name is AnnMarie Hamilton and I’m a concerned Hawaiian citizen from Kauai
County. This is my complaint with the commission against Mike Curtis for malfeasance
and dereliction of fiduciary duty as the Chair of the Elections Commission.

These are the foundational facts of my complaint:

| have attached in this complaint 20 emails dated April 17, 2025 through May 30, 2025
regarding correspondence regarding direct Election Commission business.

These emails were obtained by Mr. Cushnie through a Freedom Of Information act aka
FOIA from the Office of Information Practices which is outline in email 1.

I have put these emails in date order and have numbered them for easy viewing and
reference.

I would like to draw your attention to emails from Ralph Cushnie that are numbered 3, 4,
5, and 6. These are all requests by Mr. Cushnie for information and investigations
regarding various serious anomalies and inconsistencies in our electoral process.

I would also like to refer you to email 7 from Jennifer Hunt who also filed a complaint for
serious anomalies and inconsistencies in our electoral process.

And finally | would like to refer you to email 8 Title “Chain of Custody Questions” from
Mike Curtis, acting Elections Commission Chair to Scott Nago, acting Chief Elections
Officer.

In this email #8 you will read that Mr. Curtis asks Mr. Nago
directly about how to respond to Mr. Cushnie’s and Ms. Hunt’s
various election process concerns against Mr. Nago.

This #8 email is the foundational basis for my complaint against
Mr. Curtis in his capacity as an Elections Commissioner.

Referencing the email: Mr. Curtis asks Mr. Nago “What do you think is appropriate?”
regarding the Election Commission response to the many complaints the commission
has received from Mr. Cushnie and Ms. Hunt.



Mike Curtis then lists several “knee jerk reactions” which | assume he means possible
responses to their concerns.

Mike Curtis goes on to state in the email to Scott Nago “a PIG/Task force could be used
with a commissioner from each istand but | don’t think appropriate
here.”

Mike Curtis continues to address Mr. Scott Nago by stating “Requesting an AG
(Attorney General) analysis and response could be much more direct and

definitive”.
And finally his last sentence to Mr. Nago states “Please advise”.

I would like to point out what is extremely obvious by this written email exchange
between Mr. Nago and Mr. Curtis the following:

There is COLLABERATION and COLLUSION involved

between the acting chair of the Elections Commission
which is the entity IN CHARGE of investigating election
complaints against Mr. Nago, who is the OBJECT of the
complaint.

This is fiduciary malfeasance and a direct violation of
the sworn fiduciary duty of the Election Commission by
the ACTING Election Commission Chair.

Further, | believe this direct communication between Mr. Curtis, acting Chair, and Mr.

Nago, CEOQ, is an attempt to thwart or downplay the Hawaiian Public’s concern
about evidence that Hawaii is fraudulently certifying elections under Mr. Nago
WITHOUT the proper chain of custody documentation as well as not adhering to
many other election laws.

The duties of the Election Commission are simple and straightforward and outlined in

HRS _
§11-7.5 Duties of the elections commission. The duties of the elections
commission are to:

(1) Hold public hearings;

(2) Investigate and hold hearings for receiving evidence of any
violations and complaints;

(3) Adopt rules pursuant to chapter 91;

(4) Employ, without regard to chapter 76, a full-time chief election officer,
pursuant to section 11-1.6;



(5) Conduct a performance evaluation of the chief election officer within two
months after the date a general election is certified;

(6) Hold a public hearing on the performance of the chief election officer and
consider the information gathered at the hearing in deliberations on
the chief election officer's reappointment; and

(7) Advise the chief election officer on matters relating to elections. [L 2004,
c 57, pt of §6; am L 2015, ¢ 173, §2]

Mr. Curtis has erroneously and repeatedly misinformed the public about what the actual
job of the Hawaii Elections Commission is as he has repeatedly tells the public in these

election meetings that “our job as commissioners is “advisory” only”.

In my opinion that is factually not correct and is an attempt at
gaslighting, deflecting, avoiding, and delaying investigations into
election laws not being followed by Mr. Nago who is an “at will”
employee of the Elections Commission.

“At will” employee in the state of Hawaii, means he can be terminated for any reason, or
no reason AT ANY TIME.

The Hawaii State Election Commission has hiring and also firing authority over an
employee which also infers the Hawaii Election Commission also has vast investigative
authority over the Chief Election Officer in order to confirm the possible need for
termination of that employee.

Further, the State of Hawaii Elections Commission has an obligation and fiduciary

duty to investigate, question, subpoena if necessary, force compliance, force

adherence to laws. and come to valid conclusions about the job the Chief Elections
Officer is doing running the Hawaii state elections AND if that employee is not following
his job duties or the law then you have a fiduciary duty to fire him and hire someone that
can do the job properly according to the Hawaii state election laws.

The commissions job is not to hire someone to run Hawaii’s elections that does not
do the job according to election law and then reward that person by continuing to
extend his employment, giving him pay raises, and doing zero investigations as is
being done with Mr. Nago.

And doing this all over the very loud objections of the public and mounting
overwhelming evidence against Mr. Nago.

And the job of the Hawaii State Election Commission Chair certainly does not
include asking the Chief Elections Officer how the commission

should res pond to a citizen’s or commissioner’s complaint against him as is

shown in these emails.

These emails in my opinion are a smoking gun of evidence of malfeasance and
breaking fiduciary duty of the Election Commission as guardian of our state

Elections.



The Hawaii State Elections Commission is the one and ONLY state entity thatis
empowered to investigate and make direct changes to our Chief Elections Officer in
order to facilitate and ensure the voting public’s trust in their state elections.

Itis not the state, county or even federal judges job to enforce election laws. Itis notwe
the people’s job. Itis not the county and state politician’s job to enforce election laws.

IT IS, however, the sole role of the Hawaii Election Commission to be the final judge and
jury and enforcement arm of Hawaii’s election laws through their investigative powers
and their supervisory employment of the State’s Chief Elections Officer.

That enforcement arm of election integrity begins and ends with the hiring, firing and
investigating and holding accountable the Chief elections officer.

| feel that this correspondence shows that Mr. Curtis sought Mr. Nago’s input in the
commission’s response to several different election process complaints in order to
possibly minimize and/or dismiss credible and legitimate concerns that were filed with
the commission regarding Mr. Nago’s performance as our Chief Elections Officer.

As we are all aware, Mr. Curtis as an Election Commissioner is tasked with investigating
complaints and concerns with Mr. Nago’s supervision and oversite of Hawaii’s state
elections.

In this exchange Mr. Curtis is clearly asking Mr. Nago (the very person he is tasked with
hiring, supervising, investigating and possibly firing) how Mr. Curtis, the Election

Commission Chair should respond to Mr. Cushnie’s and Ms. Hunt’s complaints.

This blatant disregard for the important fiduciary duties of the Election Commission
Chair to the public and his fellow commissioners is extremely telling and troubling.

Following election laws to the letter which includes proper documentation of Chain of
custody of ballots is the bedrock which all other elections laws stand on.

Without documented Chain of Custody no election that can be certified.

An election conducted without documented chain of custody is nothing more than a
“(s)election” by whomever is perpetrating and supporting the lack of adherence to
proper chain of custody and other election laws.

Further, in my opinion a critical component of facilitating election fraud through a lack of
chain of custody and other ballot security lapses is the accompanying deflection,

avoidance, and outright gaslighting perpetuated on the Hawaiian citizenry and
anyone that dares tries to bring this criminality to light.

Myself and many others have been testifying about the lack of Chain of Custody in
Hawaii’s elections for years now, and only recently under intense public pressure the
commissioners were able to get enough votes to conduct its first investigations after
nine years that uncovered a disturbing lack of chain of custody on Kauai.

This prolonged avoidance of conducting investigations into viable and substantive evidence of
illegality in our elections that have been brought before the commission is something that has

been very uncomfortable for myself to watch over several years of attending these meetings by
zoom.

But now that these emails between Mr. Curtis and Mr. Nago have been foiad and
exposed, this prolonged avoidance makes much more sense. As these emails shows a



blatant disregard by the chair for the duties of the election Commission and it also
shows a blatant attempt to collude and collaborate with the Chief Elections Officer to
explain away or suppress or delay lack of chain of custody evidence being brought to
light.

This is completely unacceptable to the people of Hawaii who have entrusted their
elections to this Elections Commission Board.

As a community of concerned citizens we’ve been blowing the whistle of the lack of
chain of custody for a very long time now. Here we find the direct emails between Mr.
Curtis and Mr. Nago where Mr. Curtis is clearly taking a concerned citizens complaint

to the very person that complaint is against and asking him to help him draft a
response to those concerns. This shows that Mike Curtis has a complete lack of

understanding of his duty as a commissioner and especially as a Chair of this Elections
Commission.

Personally, | am beyond offended by this email. | am outraged.

Mr. Curtis thought so little of the public’s viable and substantive “chain of custody” and
other election concerns that he attempts to engage the very person that is in charge of
election law adherence HIS OPINION of how the commission should respond to the
complaints.

I am outraged and frankly | have had enough of this gaslighting of our election process
concerns.

I and the good people of Hawaii do not have to put up with this continuous and
maddening lack of accountability, lack of transparency, lack of investigations, lack of
anything remotely resembling enforcement of the election laws of our state.

Due to this blatant disregard for the duties of the election commission and specifically
the duties of Chair of the election commission

| firmly ask that the Commission make a motion to terminate Mr.
Curtis’ position as an election commissioner effective immediately.

The reasons for this action are clear:
1. Mr. Curtis clearly does not understand his role as Chair
2. Mr. Curtis does not respect or understand the duties of a commissioner.

3. Mr. Curtis obviously does not respect or understand the role of the Hawaii Election
commissions important duties as the final enforcement arm of Hawaii’s election
laws in their role of employing, investigating and firing if necessary the Chief
Election Officer.

During the meeting of August 27" 1 would like to ask the Commission to make a motion,

and 2"9 the motion, and then take a vote to remove Mike Curtis from the election
commission entirely and vote in a new Elections Commission Chair, one that does
understand his job and his responsibilities to the voters of Hawaii.

| would advise that person nominated to be Elections Chair to be Ralph Cushnie.

In my opinion Ralph Cushnie is the Election Commissioner that has done the most for
the people of Hawaii in bringing back trust, transparency and accountability to our



Hawaiian election process, and he does so bravely in the face of extreme opposition by
several fellow commissioners and especially current Chair Mike Curtis.

| believe that this is the only remedy for this situation and if trust and faith in the election
commission is to continue it must continue on a firm foundation of accountability and
transparency.

Given this serious documented evidence of collusion and collaboration between The

Hawaii Election Commission Chair and his “at will” employee Chief Elections
Officer Scott Nago we cannot have that firm foundation as long as Mr. Curtis is involved
in the commission in any way.

Sincerely,

Kuokoa ola Loihi

Long live Freedom,

AnnMarie Hamilton

Kauai Citizen and concerned voter

Note: Please contact me by email if you need further information for this complaint and | will
respond promptly.



From: OIP <pip@hawaii gov>

Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 1:21 PM

To: Ot Elections <glections@hawaiigoy>; Nago, Scott T «<s¢oll L nago@hawaiipoy> \
Subject: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records (U APPEAL 25-32)

Dear Mr. Nago:

Aftached is a letter dated April 17, 2025 from the Office of Information Practices reparding a
request for assistanice we received from Mr. Ralph Cushnie. Also attached are the Appeal
Procedures and Responsibilities of the parties, Mr. Cushnie's request to OIP and his record request
to DAGS-ELEC.

Please contact our office if you have difficulty opening the artachiments,
Thank you,

Office of Information Practices
State of Hawai'l

No. 1 Capitol District Building
250 S, Hotel Street. #1607
Honolulu
Ph: {(808)

96813
Facsimile: (808)

il ain@hawan




From: OE.Elections.Commission —

Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 3:52 PM

To: Ching, Jordan AK <
ce: OE.Elections.Commission <} NG

Subject: FW: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records (U APPEAL 25-32)

Hi Jordan,

We received the email below from OIP regarding Commissioner Cushnie. Please advise.

Thank you,

Raymund de Vega
Voter Services
State of Hawaii, Office of Elections

~ (B0B) 453-VOTE (8683)



From: Ralph Custnie (£C) <

Sent: Sunday, May 4, 2025 8:51 AM

To: OF.Elections.Commission

Cc: Peter Young

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Request to Place Formal Complaint on Upcoming Agenda and Documentati
of Chair's Obstruction

Dear Chair Curtis,

I am formally requesting that the attached complaint, submitted pursuant to HAR 8§ 3-
170-6 and 3-170-7, be placed on the agenda for the next duly noticed meeting of the
Hawai‘i Elections Commission.

The complaint concerns the Office of Elections’ failure to provide statutorily required
ballot chain of custody documentation, and the refusal to release Statewide Voter
Registration System (SVRS) records that the Chief Election Officer has publicly claimed
satisfy those requirements. As a Commissioner, | have a duty to ensure compliance with
HAR § 3-177-453 and HRS § 16-43, and to uphold the integrity and transparency of
Hawai‘i’s elections.

Itis deeply troubling that after over a year of repeated attempts to obtain this
infarmation through proper channels, including formal UIPA requests, the Office of
Elections continues to withhold key records or claim they are inaccessible. Even more
concerning is the ocbstruction by the Commission itself in addressing this issue.



I must document for the record that at the December 2024 meeting, you unilaterally
removed me from participation after | made a lawful motion to subpoena these records.
This action was taken without a proper vote, without justification under Commission
rules, and without any finding of misconduct. Your removal of a sitting Commissioner for
merely exercising his right to introduce a motion is a serious act of procedural
obstruction and an affront to the Commission’s oversight duties under HRS § 11-7.5.
Your continued refusal to agendize legitimate concerns regarding election transparency
—coupled with actions taken to silence or remove dissenting Commissioners—
constitutes a pattern of obstruction that is now being formally noted and documented.
Please confirm in writing that this complaint will be placed on the next agenda, and that
Commissioners will be given a fair and open opportunity to discuss and act upon it, as
required under HAR § 3-170 and the Sunshine Law.

Sincerely,

Ralph Cushnie



Froms Raioh Cushie (cc) <

Sent: Sunday, May 4, 2025 1:52 PM

To: OE.Elections.Commission <} G

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Request for Commission Vote to Issue Subpoenas for Chain of Custody q
Documentation

To:

Chair Mike Curtis

- Hawai'i Elections Commission
- 802 Lehua Avenue

Pearl City, HI 96782

Subject: Request for Commission Vote to Issue Subpoenas for Chain of Custody
Documentation

Dear Chair Curtis,

Pursuant to my duties as a Commissioner and in furtherance of the Commission’s oversight
responsibilities under HRS §11-7.5, I respectfully request that the Elections Commission
agendize and hold a formal vote to issue subpoenas to the County Clerks of all four counties
and the Office of Elections. These subpoenas should compel the production of complete
chain of custody documentation for ballots received during the 2022 and 2024 elections,
including but not limited to:

1. All records showing the date, time, and quantity of ballot envelopes received at drop
boxes and USPS facilities;

2. Logs, forms, or transmissions documenting the intake and reconciliation of those
ballots into the Statewide Voter Registration System (SVRS);

3. Any daily or cumulative forms required under HAR §3-177-453(b) showing the
“complete and current count” of ballots received,;

4. Documentation of inter-agency transfers between county election offices and the State
counting center;

5. Any observer reports verifying receipt and processing of ballots at any point prior to
signature verification.

This request follows a year and a half of unanswered public records inquiries and shifting
explanations from both the Office of Elections and county officials regarding who maintains
these legally required records. Most recently, Chief Election Officer Scott Nago claimed that
chain of custody documentation is maintained electronically within the SVRS. Yet when
records from the SVRS were formally requested, the Office of Elections refused to produce



them, citing internal policy without legal basis. The counties assert they do not control or
maintain SVRS records.

Given this impasse, the Commission must act decisively. Subpoena authority exists
precisely for circumstances where transparency is obstructed and statutory compliance is in
question. The clear intent of HAR §3-177-453 is to safeguard the integrity of Hawaii’s vote-
by-mail process by requiring accurate and timely ballot counts throughout custody—not
merely during signature verification.

If the Commission is to fulfill its constitutional and statutory duty to oversee the
administration of elections and ensure public confidence in our electoral system, it must now
exercise its authority to compel disclosure.

I request that this item be added to the agenda for the next scheduled meeting and that the
Commission vote to authorize issuance of subpoenas pursuant to its oversight function.

Sincerely,
Ralph S. Cushnie
Commissioner, Hawai'i Elections Commission



From: Raiph Cushnie (£C) <

Sent: Sunday, May 4, 2025 2:06 PM

To: OE Elections.Commission <} | GGG

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Request to Amend March 19, 2025 Meeting Minutes — Statement During It€m"
IV, and Request to Agendize Status of Motions

To:

Chair Mike Curtis

Hawai'i Elections Commission
802 Lehua Avenue

Pearl City, HI 96782

Subject: Request to Amend March 19, 2025 Meeting Minutes — Statement During
Item IV, and Request to Agendize Status of Motions

Dear Chair Curtis,

1 respectfully request that the official minutes of the March 19, 2025 regular meeting of
the Hawai'i Elections Commission be amended to accurately reflect a commitment
made during the discussion of Agenda ltem IV: Communications & Correspondence,
Received for the Record.

During that portion of the meeting, you stated that the status of motions would be
placed on the next meeting agenda. This statement was made in response to concerns
raised regarding unresolved motions and public transparency. To ensure the record is
complete and accurate, | request that this commitment be added to the minutes.
Additionally, | formally request that the status of all motions made by Commissioners
during previous meetings be placed on the agenda for the Commission’s next



regular meeting, as was promised. This includes, but is not limited to, motions relating
to subpoenas, investigations, and public complaints received under HAR §3-170.
Proper tracking and follow-up of Commission motions is critical to the integrity of our
proceedings and our ability to maintain public trust in the oversight process.

Thank you for your attention to these matters.

Sincerely,

Ralph S. Cushnie



From: Ralph Cushnie (£C) <

Sent: Monday, May 5, 2025 9:58 AM

To: OE.Elections.Commission —
ca: Peter Yourg <

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Request to Place Complaint on Next Commission Agenda — Certification
Without Required Documentation

To:

Chair Mike Curtis

Hawai'i Elections Commission
c/o Office of Elections

802 Lehua Avenue

Pearl City, Hawai'i 96782

Subject: Request to Place Complaint on Next Commission Agenda — Certification
Without Required Documentation

Dear Chair Curtis,

| respectfully request that the attached formal complaint, submitted pursuant to HAR §§
3-170-6 and 3-170-7, be placed on the agenda for the next meeting of the Hawai'i
Elections Commission.

The complaint outlines serious legal and procedural concerns surrounding the
certification of the 2024 General Election results for the County of Maui. Chief Election
Officer Scott Nago has acknowledged that critical chain of custody documentation was
discovered to be missing only after the election had been certified. This admission



indicates that the certification was executed without the complete reconciliation
mandated by HRS § 11-155.

Moreover, the complaint raises the issue of Mr. Nago’s reliance on data from the
Statewide Voter Registration System (SVRS) in the absence of any public records or
observer-verified logs to confirm its accuracy. This lack of transparency makes
meaningful oversight impossible and falls short of statutory requirements for verifiable
election documentation.

Given the significance of these issues, | urge that the Commission agendize this matter
for discussion and vote to initiate a formal investigation in accordance with its oversight
authority under HRS § 11-7.5 and HAR § 3-170.

Please confirm receipt of this request and that the complaint will be scheduled for
discussion on the next meeting agenda.

Sincerely,

Ralph S. Cushnie

Commissioner, Hawai‘i Elections Commission



trom: senniter <

Sent: Monday, May 5, 2025 5:01 PM
To: OE.Elections.Commission
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Formal Complaint to the Hawaii Election Commission and Office of Electiobs

To the Hawaii Election Commission, Office of Elections, and Jazelle (and/or staff
responsible for communications with Commissioners):

Please accept this email as my updated Formal Complaint. This is not a request for
information.

Please ensure that it is properly categorized for the next meeting agenda as a Formal
Complaint, along with the previous formal complaint submitted on February 19, 2023 (and
miscategorized during the March 19, 2025 meeting).

Please also confirm receipt of this email and confirm that both complaints and their
supporting documents have been forwarded to all Hawaii Election Commissioners.

Background

On February 19, 2025, | submitted a formal complaint regarding election integrity
concerns. After receiving no acknowledgement, I followed up on March 10, 2025,
requesting three specific actions:

1. Acknowledge receipt of my complaint.
2. Forward my complaint to al! Election Commissioners.
3. Place my complaint on the agenda for the next Commission meeting, March 19, 2025,

On March 11, 2025, Jazelle responded:

"My apologies for not responding sooner. We received your email and it has
been forwarded to Chair Curtis and added to the agenda for the upcoming
meeting."

Despite this assurance, at the March 19, 2025 meeting, my Formal Complaint was
miscategorized under “VI. Records Request; Refer to OIP: February 19 — Hunt,” and was
not addressed. I raised this issue during my testimony and twice thereafter. Despite these
interventions, Chair Curtis did not correct the error and address my Formal Complaint.



Given the timing - in light of other similar county complaints — this mishandling raises
concemns of deliberate avoidance, not mere administrative error.

Summary of Issues

1. Lack of Required Chain-of-Custody Records (HAR 3-177-453):

On March 17, 2025, the Chief Election Officer acknowledged in a letter to the
Commissioners that Maui County lacked chain-of-custody records for ballots,
citing “human error.”

2. Obstruction of Public Access to Records:
Multiple formal and informal requests (including UTPA requests) for these
critical Maui County chain-of-custody records were ignored or stonewalled.

3. Misleading Public Information:

The Office of Elections’ public assurance that ballots are securely processed
with full observation and reconciliation is not supported by facts on the ground
in Maui County. '

4. Improper Handling of Formal Complaints:
Mislabeling my complaint as a “records request” prevented it from being
addressed appropriately.

Evidence

» Supporting documentation of my requests for chain-of-custody records/documents
submitted with the February 19, 2025 Formal Complaint.

¢ March 17, 2025 Letter:
The Chief Election Officer admitted missing documentation: "Some documents
concerning the transfer of validated mail ballots [...] may have been misplaced due to
human error." Despite this, the Office of Elections proceeded with election
certification without these legally required documents.

» Office of Elections Website Statements:
“How do you ensure election officials don’t throw away ballets?

"Ballots are always transported and processed in the presence of Official
Observers. Official Observers serve as the “eyes and ears” of the public and
monitor that election officials are maintaining the security and integrity of the
elections. Additionally, the number of ballots received and counted are
reconciled at the end of each day to ensure there are no discrepancies.”

Claims of secure handling and reconciliation processes are contradicted by the
lack of chain-of-custody records/ documentation and independent observation

¢ The mischaracterization/mishandling of my Formal Complaint during the recorded
March 19, Election Commission Meeting.

Requested Actions



I respectfully request that the Hawaii Elections Commission:

—

Lh

. Formally acknowledge receipt of both Formal Complaints in the public record.

Investigate the non-compliance of Maui County with HAR 3-177-453 and the failure
to maintain mandatory ballot chain-of-custody records.
Examine the mischaracterization of my formal complaint at the March 19, 2025
meeting, as a request for information, and take corrective action to ensure the public’s
complaints are properly processed going forward.
Require an official response from the Office of Elections regarding:
o How Maui County reconciled ballots without complete chain-of-custody
records.
o How the Office of Elections can ensure the validity of the Maui County ballots
without reconciliation of ballots.
o What measures will be implemented to prevent such violations and failures in
future elections.

. Reassess election certification protocols in light of missing legal documentation.

Strengthen transparency by ensuring that election integrity complaints are publicly
addressed and not misrepresented, and these records are accessible to the public.

Conclusion

How did Maui County reconcile the ballots received and counted at the end of each
day without the numbers verified on the records from each drop box, each day? The
Office of Elections must answer this question

Confidence in Hawaii elections is eroding because critical transparency measures are not
being upheld. Public servants have a duty to foliow both the letter and the spirit of election
law. When chain-of-custody records are missing and public complaints are
mischaracterized, public trust collapses. I urge the Commission to take immediate action to
restore integrity, transparency, and accountability in our electoral process.

Respectfully,
Jennifer Hunt



Date: Tuesday, May 6, 2025 9:11:20 AM

From: Mechael Curtis

To: Nago, Scott T

Cc: Ching, Jordan AX; de Vega, Raymund C; Michael Curtis

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Chain of Custody questions /

Aloha Scott,

I need to address this issue at a Commuission Meeting. What do you think 1s
appropniate?

Following i1s my knee jerk reaction to Ms. Hall's Complaint, as well as several
others.

"In Person Precinct Voting Chain of Custody was clearly 1n place in transport from
Clerks' Offices to Precinct Polling Places and back to Clerk/Election Offices and
Counting Centers. Under control were Unvoted Ballots to Precincts, Voted &

Unvoted Ballots to Clerks' Office & County Counting Centers.

The United States Postal Service "securely" controls Delivery of Unvoted Ballots
and Retumn of Voted Ballots.

Chain of Custody concerns will be addressed by Scott Nago, and each of the
County Clerks, as appropriate.”

The PIG/Task Force could be used with a Comunissioner from each island, but I
don't think appropnate here. Requesting an AG analysis and response could be

much more direct and definitive.

Please advise.

Aloha,

mike

Michael Curtis

C fax

otpY Beac a ge of the Kmown Universes



From: Nago. Scott T d\
To ]

Ce: Ching, Jordan AK; de Vega, Raymung C
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Chain of Custody questions
Date: Tuesday, May 6, 2025 1:45:00 PM

Dear Chair Curtis,

While we concur with your understanding of the process and how various election materials
are handled and by whom, our office will continue to refer to the documents and materials
that we have already compiled as well as the previous litigation. However, we are not sure
what additional actions and details would be appropriate or settle the matter of chain of
custody for past elections. Let me know if you have any questions.

Thanks,
Scott



From: Michael Curtis

To:
Subject: Re: PW: [EXTERNAL] Farmal Complaint to the Hawaii Election Commission and Office of Elections
Date: Tuesday, May 6, 2025 9:14:28 AM

Aloha Ms. Hunt,

Thank you for your persistence. Chain of Custody has arisen as a major issue since
converting to an all Mail In Ballot Election System 1n 2020.

In Person Precinct Voting Chain of Custody was clearly in place in transport from
Clerks' Offices to Precinct Polling Places and back to Clerk/Election Offices and
Counting Centers. Under control were Unvoted Ballots to Precincts, Voted &
Unvoted Ballots to Clerks' Office & County Counting Centers.

The United States Postal Service "securely” controls Delivery of Unvoted Ballots
and Return of Voted Ballots.

Chain of Custody concerns will be addressed in a near future Hawaii Election
Commussion meeting, with your Complaint included in that Agenda item.

Aloha,
mike

Michael Curtis
C fax

ading of the Kmown Universes



from: Michael Curtis

To: ! shni

Cc Of. jons. Commission

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: FW: Request for Commission Vote to Issue Subpoenas for Chain of Custody Documentation
Date: Tuesday, May 6, 2025 9:18:13 AM

Aloha Ralph,

Thank you for your persistence. Chain of Custody has arisen as a major issue since
converting to an all Mail In Ballot Election System in 2020.

In Person Precinct Voting Chain of Custody was clearly in place i transport from
Clerks' Offices to Precinct Polling Places and back to Clerk/Election Offices and
Counting Centers. Under control were Unvoted Ballots to Precincts, Voted &
Unvoted Ballots to Clerks' Office & County Counting Centers.

The United States Postal Service "securely” controls Delivery of Unvoted Ballots
and Return of Voted Ballots.

Chain of Custody concerns will be addressed in a near future Hawaii Election

Commussion meeting, with your Complaint included in that Agenda item.

Aloha,
mike

Michael Curtis

C fax

¢ of the Known Universed

On Mon, May 5. 2025 at 9:08 AM OE Elections.Commission
<_ wrote:

Hi Chair Curtis.
Please see email from Commissioner Cushnie below.
Thank you.

Voter Services



On Tue, May 13, 2025 at 4:47 PM Ching, Jordan AK |} GG

Hi Chair Cuntis.

Thank youw.

Jordan A. K. Ching
Deputy Attomey General
Commerce and Economic Development Division

Department of the Attomey General (Ka ‘Oihana o ka Loio Kuhina)
425 Queen Street

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

office: (808) | IR
Email: [

Confidentiality Notice: This email message (and any attachments) is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s). It may contain confidential and/or privileged information. It might also be
protected from disclosure under the Hawai‘i Uniform Information Practices Act (UIPA) or other
laws or regulations. Any review, use, disclosure, or distribution by unintended recipients is
prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender immediately in a
separate e-mail and destroy the original message and any copies.



From: Michael Curtis —

Sent: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 6:43 AM

To: Ching, Jordan AK —

Cc: OE.Elections.Commission _ Michael Curtis
I

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records (U APPEAL
25-32)

Aloha lordan,

Aloha,
mike

Michael Curtis

from Poipu Beach, the Leading Edge of tha Known Universe*




From: Ching, Jordan Ak < [L—f
Sent: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 8:58 AM

To: [

cc: OF.Elections.Commission < KGTGTcTcNcNGNGGEEEE

Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Re: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records {U
APPEAL 25-32)

Just as an FY| to everyone, | will be out of office from tomorrow May 15 to May 27, and may hot
be able to respond to emails during that time. If there is anything that requires immediate

attention, please call our general line at_

Thank you again everyone,

Jordan A. K. Ching

Deputy Attorney General

Commerce and Economic Development Division

Department of the Attorney General (Ka ‘Oihana o ka Loio Kuhina)
425 Queen Street

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

Office: (808
Email:

Confidentiality Notice: This email message (and any attachments) is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s). It may contain confidential and/or privileged information. It might also
be protected from disclosure under the Hawai‘i Uniform Information Practices Act (UIPA) or
other laws or regulations. Any review, use, disclosure, or distribution by unintended recipients
is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender immediately in a
separate e-mail and destroy the original message and any copies.



From: QE.Elections.Commission

Tor Ching. Jorcan A«; [

Ce: .Elections. migsion

Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Re: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records (U APPEAL 25-32)
Date: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 9:00:08 AM

Attachments: Curtis OF Communications - January 2025, pdf

Hi Jordan,

Thank you,

Raymund de Vega

Voter Services

State of Hawaii, Office of Elections
(808) 453-VOTE (8683)

Office: |808I -

Email:

Confidentiality Notice: This email message (and any attachments) is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s). It may contain confidential and/or privileged information. It might also
be protected from disclosure under the Hawai‘i Uniform Information Practices Act (UIPA) or
other {aws or regulations. Any review, use, disclosure, or distribution by unintended recipients

is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender immediatelyin a
separate e-mail and destroy the original message and any copies.



o)

From: QE.Elections. Commission

To: OF Elections.Commission; Ching. Jordan AK;

Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Re: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records (U APPEAL 25-32)
Date: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 11:08:26 AM

Hi Jordan,

Thankyou,

Raymund de Vega

Voter Services

State of Hawaii, Office of Elections
(808) 453-VOTE (8683)



From: Ching, Jordan AK <

Sent: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 11:11 AM

Tos OF lections Commission < I

Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Re: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records (U
APPEAL 25-32)

F

Thank you!




|

From: Elections.Commission

To: Ghing, Jordan AK; QE.Elections, Commission;

Subject: RE: {EXTERNAL] Re: Re: Notice of Appeal from Denial of Access to General Records (U APPEAL 25-32)
Date: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 11:24:10 AM

Thanks,

Ray



From: Elections.Commission

To: Michael Curtis; Michael C Curtis, REALTOR; Ching, Jordan AK

Ce: E.Eiecti migsion

Subject: Records Requests - Communications between Chair Curtis and OE
Date: Friday, May 30, 2025 346:02 PM

Attachments: RE EXTERNAL Records Reque

Chair Curtis & Jordan,

o o

o]



Thank you,

Raymund de Vega

Voter Services

State of Hawaii, Office of Elections
(808) 453-VOTE (8683)



From: hin rdan AK

To: OF Elections.C ission: Mi Curtis; Michael C Curtis, REALTOR
Subject: RE: Records Requests - Communications between Chair Curtis and OF
Date: Friday, May 30, 2025 4:14:13 PM

Hi Raymund,

Have a great weekend.

Jordan A. K. Ching

Deputy Attorney General

Commerce and Economic Development Division

Department of the Attorney General (Ka ‘Oihana o ka Loio Kuhina)
425 Queen Street

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

Office: (808

Email:

Confidentiality Notice: This email message (and any attachments) is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s). It may contain confidential and/or privileged information. It might also
be protected from disclosure under the Hawai*i Uniform Information Practices Act (UIPA) or
other laws or regulations. Any review, use, disclosure, or distribution by unintended recipients
is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender immediately in a
separate e-mail and destroy the original message and any copies.



From:

To: OE.Elections.Commission
Subject: [EXTERNAL] #2 Formal Complaint against Mike Curtis, Election Commission Chair
Date: Friday, August 22, 2025 10:02:25 AM

Hello Mr. Curtis:

THIS IS A COMPLAINT AGAINST MIKE CURTIS. PLEASE FORWARD THISTO ALL
COMMISSIONERS AND ADD ITTO THE AGENDA.

Please confirm it is received.

lamfiling a 2" formal complaint against you for the following:

1. As Chair and the receiver of election complaints you are attempting to ignore my first
complaint against you for malfeasance of fiduciary duty filed two days ago. You have still
not confirmed it was received as was requested in the complaint.

My complaint was received as | confirmed it was by calling the Elections Office. | was
told it was sent to you directly.

And 2) it was not added to the agenda of the next election commission meeting.

| have also filed a complaint with the Hawaii State Ethics Commission about your conduct
regarding complaints against you and how you are censoring them from the other election
commissioners.

| look forward to testifying at the meeting about this situation regarding your continued
malfeasance and collusion behaviors as the acting chair.

Sincerely,

AnnMarie Hamilton



From: ANNMARIE HAMILTON

To: OE.Elections.Commission; annmariehamilton10@gmail.com

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Formal Complaint against Mike Curtis, Election Commission Chair
Date: Wednesday, September 24, 2025 9:47:14 AM

Aloha,

Let me rephrase my response: Thank you for confirming receipt of my complaint, but |
must respectfully object to the way it is being processed.

Under HRS Chapter 92 (Sunshine Law), the Elections Commission is required to conduct
its business “as openly as possible” (HRS §92-1). Complaints submitted under HAR 83-
170 are matters before the Commission, not the Office of Elections, and they must be
made available to the public and to all commissioners in a timely and transparent
manner.

Forwarding my complaint exclusively to the Office of Elections for a response, while
withholding it from the Commission and the public until such time as “the Chair
determines,” violates the spirit and the letter of Chapter 92. The Sunshine Law requires
that:

® All commissioners must have equal access to correspondence, complaints, and
materials before the body.

® The public has the right to see complaints and responses docketed and discussed
as part of the Commission’s official record.

® The Chair may not act as gatekeeper to suppress or delay items of Commission
business.

Accordingly, the Chair of the Elections Commission — not the Office of Elections —
must acknowledge and answer this complaint. The Office of Elections is the subject of
Commission oversight, not the arbiter of complaints against the Commission itself.

| therefore request that:

1. My complaint (ECC-25-002) be distributed immediately to all commissioners and
posted with the Commission’s meeting materials for public review.

2. The Chair, as the presiding officer, issue the formal response on behalf of the

Commission.

3. This item be docketed for the next scheduled Commission meeting, without delay

or suppression, in compliance with the Sunshine Law.

Please confirm that these Sunshine Law obligations will be met.


mailto:annmarie@surfkauairealestate.com
mailto:elections.commission@hawaii.gov
mailto:annmariehamilton10@gmail.com

Sincerely,

AnnMarie Hamilton

From: OE.Elections.Commission <elections.commission@hawaii.gov>

Sent: Tuesday, September 23, 2025 4:15 PM

To: annmariehamilton10@gmail.com; OE.Elections.Commission
<elections.commission@hawaii.gov>

Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Formal Complaint against Mike Curtis, Election Commission Chair

Aloha,

This is to confirm receipt of your formal complaint. This, and your attached subsequent email,
have been assigned the following number: ECC-25-001. It has been forwarded to the Office of
Elections to provide it the opportunity to respond. It will appear on an Elections Commission
meeting agenda when time allows as determined by the Chair.

Thank you,

Office of Elections
(808) 453-VOTE (8683)

elections@hawaii.gov

From: annmariehamilton10@gmail.com <annmariehamilton10@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, August 20, 2025 7:47 AM

To: OE.Elections.Commission <glections.commission@hawaii.gov>

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Formal Complaint against Mike Curtis, Election Commission Chair

To the Hawaii Election Commission, Office of elections, and staff that is responsible for
communications with Commissioners:

Please accept this email as my Formal Complaint. This is not a request for information.
Please ensure that it is properly categorized for the next meeting Agenda (which may be

August 27th) as a Formal Complaint.
Please confirm receipt of this email complaint and confirm that this complaint and the
supporting documentation (in its entirety which consists of copies of 20 relevant emails of 27

pages at 450Kb) that | address in my complaint have been forwarded to ALL HAWAII
ELECTION COMMISSIONERS.

My name is AnnMarie Hamilton and I’m a concerned Hawaiian citizen from Kauai
County. This is my complaint with the commission against Mike Curtis for malfeasance
and dereliction of fiduciary duty as the Chair of the Elections Commission.

These are the foundational facts of my complaint:
| have attached in this complaint 20 emails dated April 17, 2025 through May 30, 2025


mailto:elections@hawaii.gov
mailto:annmariehamilton10@gmail.com
mailto:annmariehamilton10@gmail.com
mailto:elections.commission@hawaii.gov

regarding correspondence regarding direct Election Commission business.

These emails were obtained by Mr. Cushnie through a Freedom Of Information act aka
FOIA from the Office of Information Practices which is outline in email 1.

I have put these emails in date order and have numbered them for easy viewing and
reference.

I would like to draw your attention to emails from Ralph Cushnie that are numbered 3, 4,
5, and 6. These are all requests by Mr. Cushnie for information and investigations
regarding various serious anomalies and inconsistencies in our electoral process.

I would also like to refer you to email 7 from Jennifer Hunt who also filed a complaint for
serious anomalies and inconsistencies in our electoral process.

And finally | would like to refer you to email 8 Title “Chain of Custody Questions” from
Mike Curtis, acting Elections Commission Chair to Scott Nago, acting Chief Elections
Officer.

In this email #8 you will read that Mr. Curtis asks Mr. Nago
directly about how to respond to Mr. Cushnie’s and Ms. Hunt’s
various election process concerns against Mr. Nago.

This #8 email is the foundational basis for my complaint against
Mr. Curtis in his capacity as an Elections Commissioner.

Referencing the email: Mr. Curtis asks Mr. Nago “What do you think is appropriate?”
regarding the Election Commission response to the many complaints the commission
has received from Mr. Cushnie and Ms. Hunt.

Mike Curtis then lists several “knee jerk reactions” which | assume he means possible
responses to their concerns.

Mike Curtis goes on to state in the email to Scott Nago “a PIG/Task force could be used

with a commissioner from each istand but | don’t think appropriate
here.”

Mike Curtis continues to address Mr. Scott Nago by stating “Requesting an AG
(Attorney General) analysis and response could be much more direct and

definitive”.
And finally his last sentence to Mr. Nago states “Please advise”.

I would like to point out what is extremely obvious by this written email exchange
between Mr. Nago and Mr. Curtis the following:

There is COLLABERATION and COLLUSION involved

between the acting chair of the Elections Commission
which is the entity IN CHARGE of investigating election
complaints against Mr. Nago, who is the OBJECT of the
complaint.



This is fiduciary malfeasance and a direct violation of
the sworn fiduciary duty of the Election Commission by
the ACTING Election Commission Chair.

Further, | believe this direct communication between Mr. Curtis, acting Chair, and Mr.
Nago, CEO, is an attempt to thwart or downplay the Hawaiian Public’s concern
about evidence that Hawaii is fraudulently certifying elections under Mr. Nago
WITHOUT the proper chain of custody documentation as well as not adhering to
many other election laws.

The duties of the Election Commission are simple and straightforward and outlined in

HRS _
§11-7.5 Duties of the elections commission. The duties of the elections
commission are to:

(1) Hold public hearings;

(2) Investigate and hold hearings for receiving evidence of any
violations and complaints;

(3) Adopt rules pursuant to chapter 91;

(4) Employ, without regard to chapter 76, a full-time chief election officer,
pursuant to section 11-1.6;

(5) Conduct a performance evaluation of the chief election officer within two
months after the date a general election is certified;

(6) Hold a public hearing on the performance of the chief election officer and
consider the information gathered at the hearing in deliberations on
the chief election officer's reappointment; and

(7) Advise the chief election officer on matters relating to elections. [L 2004,
c 57, pt of §6; am L 2015, ¢ 173, §2]

Mr. Curtis has erroneously and repeatedly misinformed the public about what the actual
job of the Hawaii Elections Commission is as he has repeatedly tells the public in these

election meetings that “our job as commissioners is “advisory” only”.

In my opinion that is factually not correct and is an attempt at
gaslighting, deflecting, avoiding, and delaying investigations into
election laws not being followed by Mr. Nago who is an “at will”
employee of the Elections Commission.

“At will” employee in the state of Hawaii, means he can be terminated for any reason, or
no reason AT ANY TIME.



The Hawaii State Election Commission has hiring and also firing authority over an
employee which also infers the Hawaii Election Commission also has vast investigative
authority over the Chief Election Officer in order to confirm the possible need for
termination of that employee.

Further, the State of Hawaii Elections Commission has an obligation and fiduciary
duty to investigate, question, subpoena if necessary, force compliance, force
adherence to laws. and come to valid conclusions about the job the Chief Elections
Officer is doing running the Hawaii state elections AND if that employee is not following
his job duties or the law then you have a fiduciary duty to fire him and hire someone that
can do the job properly according to the Hawaii state election laws.

The commissions job is not to hire someone to run Hawaii’s elections that does not
do the job according to election law and then reward that person by continuing to
extend his employment, giving him pay raises, and doing zero investigations as is
being done with Mr. Nago.

And doing this all over the very loud objections of the public and mounting
overwhelming evidence against Mr. Nago.

And the job of the Hawaii State Election Commission Chair certainly does not
include asking the Chief Elections Officer how the commission

should res pond to a citizen’s or commissioner’s complaint against him as is

shown in these emails.

These emails in my opinion are a smoking gun of evidence of malfeasance and

breaking fiduciary duty of the Election Commission as guardian of our state
Elections.

The Hawaii State Elections Commission is the one and ONLY state entity that is
empowered to investigate and make direct changes to our Chief Elections Officerin
order to facilitate and ensure the voting public’s trust in their state elections.

Itis not the state, county or even federal judges job to enforce election laws. Itis notwe
the people’sjob. Itis not the county and state politician’s job to enforce election laws.

ITIS, however, the sole role of the Hawaii Election Commission to be the final judge and
jury and enforcement arm of Hawaii’s election laws through their investigative powers
and their supervisory employment of the State’s Chief Elections Officer.

That enforcement arm of election integrity begins and ends with the hiring, firing and
investigating and holding accountable the Chief elections officer.

| feel that this correspondence shows that Mr. Curtis sought Mr. Nago’s input in the
commission’s response to several different election process complaints in order to
possibly minimize and/or dismiss credible and legitimate concerns that were filed with
the commission regarding Mr. Nago’s performance as our Chief Elections Officer.

As we are all aware, Mr. Curtis as an Election Commissioner is tasked with investigating
complaints and concerns with Mr. Nago’s supervision and oversite of Hawaii’s state
elections.

In this exchange Mr. Curtis is clearly asking Mr. Nago (the very person he is tasked with
hiring, supervising, investigating and possibly firing) how Mr. Curtis, the Election



Commission Chair should respond to Mr. Cushnie’s and Ms. Hunt’s complaints.

This blatant disregard for the important fiduciary duties of the Election Commission
Chair to the public and his fellow commissioners is extremely telling and troubling.

Following election laws to the letter which includes proper documentation of Chain of
custody of ballots is the bedrock which all other elections laws stand on.

Without documented Chain of Custody no election that can be certified.

An election conducted without documented chain of custody is nothing more than a
“(s)election” by whomever is perpetrating and supporting the lack of adherence to
proper chain of custody and other election laws.

Further, in my opinion a critical component of facilitating election fraud through a lack of
chain of custody and other ballot security lapses is the accompanying deflection,

avoidance, and outright gaslighting perpetuated on the Hawaiian citizenry and
anyone that dares tries to bring this criminality to light.

Myself and many others have been testifying about the lack of Chain of Custody in
Hawaii’s elections for years now, and only recently under intense public pressure the
commissioners were able to get enough votes to conduct its first investigations after
nine years that uncovered a disturbing lack of chain of custody on Kauai.

This prolonged avoidance of conducting investigations into viable and substantive evidence of
illegality in our elections that have been brought before the commission is something that has

been very uncomfortable for myself to watch over several years of attending these meetings by
zoom.

But now that these emails between Mr. Curtis and Mr. Nago have been foiad and
exposed, this prolonged avoidance makes much more sense. As these emails shows a
blatant disregard by the chair for the duties of the election Commission and it also
shows a blatant attempt to collude and collaborate with the Chief Elections Officer to
explain away or suppress or delay lack of chain of custody evidence being brought to
light.

This is completely unacceptable to the people of Hawaii who have entrusted their
elections to this Elections Commission Board.

As a community of concerned citizens we’ve been blowing the whistle of the lack of
chain of custody for a very long time now. Here we find the direct emails between Mr.
Curtis and Mr. Nago where Mr. Curtis is clearly taking a concerned citizens complaint

to the very person that complaint is against and asking him to help him draft a
response to those concerns. This shows that Mike Curtis has a complete lack of

understanding of his duty as a commissioner and especially as a Chair of this Elections
Commission.

Personally, | am beyond offended by this email. | am outraged.

Mr. Curtis thought so little of the public’s viable and substantive “chain of custody” and
other election concerns that he attempts to engage the very person that is in charge of
election law adherence HIS OPINION of how the commission should respond to the
complaints.

| am outraged and frankly | have had enough of this gaslighting of our election process
concerns.



| and the good people of Hawaii do not have to put up with this continuous and
maddening lack of accountability, lack of transparency, lack of investigations, lack of
anything remotely resembling enforcement of the election laws of our state.

Due to this blatant disregard for the duties of the election commission and specifically
the duties of Chair of the election commission

| firmly ask that the Commission make a motion to terminate Mr.
Curtis’ position as an election commissioner effective immediately.

The reasons for this action are clear:
1. Mr. Curtis clearly does not understand his role as Chair
2. Mr. Curtis does not respect or understand the duties of a commissioner.

3. Mr. Curtis obviously does not respect or understand the role of the Hawaii Election
commissions important duties as the final enforcement arm of Hawaii’s election
laws in their role of employing, investigating and firing if necessary the Chief
Election Officer.

During the meeting of August 27t | would like to ask the Commission to make a motion,

and 2"9 the motion, and then take a vote to remove Mike Curtis from the election
commission entirely and vote in a new Elections Commission Chair, one that does
understand his job and his responsibilities to the voters of Hawaii.

I would advise that person nominated to be Elections Chair to be Ralph Cushnie.

In my opinion Ralph Cushnie is the Election Commissioner that has done the most for
the people of Hawaii in bringing back trust, transparency and accountability to our
Hawaiian election process, and he does so bravely in the face of extreme opposition by
several fellow commissioners and especially current Chair Mike Curtis.

| believe that this is the only remedy for this situation and if trust and faith in the election
commission is to continue it must continue on a firm foundation of accountability and
transparency.

Given this serious documented evidence of collusion and collaboration between The

Hawaii Election Commission Chair and his “at will” employee Chief Elections
Officer Scott Nago we cannot have that firm foundation as long as Mr. Curtis is involved

in the commission in any way.

Sincerely,

Kuokoa ola Loihi
Long live Freedom,
AnnMarie Hamilton

Kauai Citizen and concerned voter

Note: Please contact me by email if you need further information for this complaint and | will
respond promptly.






ECC-25-002

From: Ralph Cushnie (EC)

To: OE.Elections.Commission

Cc: OIP

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Formal Complaint under HAR §3-170, Subchapter 2 — Malfeasance by Chair for Failure to Submit
Biennial Report to Legislature

Date: Monday, September 22, 2025 8:50:08 AM

Attachments: 2021-02-10-Supplemental-Biennial-Report.pdf

Dear Commissioners,

Pursuant to Hawai‘i Administrative Rules (HAR) §3-170, Subchapter 2, | hereby file this
formal complaint regarding the Elections Commission Chair’s failure to fulfill a statutory
obligation under HRS §11-8.5.

|. LEGAL REQUIREMENT

HRS 811-8.5 requires the Elections Commission to:

“Submit the findings and recommendations from the biennial evaluation to the
legislature, not less than twenty days prior to the convening of each regular session held
in odd-numbered years.”

The Commission has historically issued Biennial Reports to the Legislature, including:

December 22, 2022 - Biennial Report

February 10, 2021 — Supplemental Biennial Report

January 21, 2021 - Biennial Report

December 26, 2018 — Biennial Report

December 28, 2016 — Biennial Report

No such report was submitted in 2025, despite the clear statutory mandate.

[I. NATURE OF THE VIOLATION
By failing to submit the required biennial report, the Chair has:

1. Neglected a direct statutory duty under HRS §11-8.5(5).

2. Denied the Legislature critical findings and recommendations about the
performance of elections.

3. Undermined transparency, accountability, and the credibility of the Commission.

[Il. REQUIREMENT TO INCLUDE P.l.G. REPORTS

On August 27, 2025, the Commission received the Final Permitted Interaction Group
(P.1.G.) Report on Chain of Custody and 2024 Election Irregularities. This report
concludes that Hawai‘i’s elections results based on electronic records are unverifiable.
Otherissues include missing chain-of-custody records, unaccounted ballot
discrepancies, and suppression of complaints.

Because HRS §11-8.5 requires the Commission to review the operation and
performance of elections and make recommendations, the biennial report must include



the P.I.G. reportin full or by reference. The Chair’s refusal or failure to ensure its
inclusion constitutes suppression of material findings that the Legislature is entitled to
receive.

IV. FAILURE TO ADDRESS PRIOR REPORTS

In addition, the Legislature and the Commission have failed to address the February 10,
2021 Supplemental Biennial Report submitted by then-Chair F.M. Scotty Anderson,
which specifically recommended:

1. “Verifiable chain of custody of ballots at every stage of transportation and
handling;” and
2. “Ensure ballot tracking is in place for the 2022 Elections in coordination with the
United States Postal Service.”
Neither the Legislature nor the Commission has acted on these critical
recommendations, despite their clear relevance to the chain-of-custody failures and
ballot discrepancies documented in the 2024 General Election.

V. GROUNDS FOR MALFEASANCE

The Chair’s failure to submit the 2025 biennial report, and to ensure it included both the
2025 P.1.G. findings and prior Commission recommendations, constitutes malfeasance
in office. This is a willful neglect of duty in direct violation of law.

VI. RELIEF REQUESTED
| respectfully request that the Elections Commission, under HAR §3-170, Subchapter 2:

1. Accept and docket this complaint as a formal matter before the Commission.

2. Directimmediate preparation and submission of the overdue 2025 Biennial Report
to the Legislature.

3. Ensure that the Final P.I.G. Report dated August 27, 2025, and the February 10,
2021 Supplemental Biennial Report are included in the report by reference or in
full.

4. Formally censure the Chair for violating HRS §11-8.5.

5. Consider removal or replacement of the Chair if compliance is not immediately
achieved.

The Commission’s credibility depends on strict adherence to statute and rule. Failure to
submit the biennial report not only violates the law but obstructs the Legislature’s ability
to exercise oversight of elections in Hawai'i.

Sincerely,
Ralph Cushnie



malfeasance

wrongdoing or misconduct especially by a public official



STATE OF HAWAII
ELECTIONS COMMISSION CHAIR ELECTIONS COMMISSION

February 10, 2021

The Honorable Ronald D. Kouchi The Honorable Scott Saiki
President and Members Speaker and Members of the
of the Senate House of Representatives

Thirty First State Legislature Thirty First State Legislature

State Capitol, Room 409 State Capitol, Room 431

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

Dear President Kouchi, Speaker Saiki, and Members of the Legislature:

For your information and consideration, | am transmitting a supplemental report
to the “Elections Commission’s Biennial Evaluation of Elections Operation,” in
accordance with Hawaii Revised Statutes §11-8.5.

Should you have any questions, please contact me at (808) 453-VOTE (8683).

Sincerely,

- LI WP

F.M. SCOTTY ANDERSON
Elections Commission Chair

SA:jk
EC-21-002a

Enclosure

C: Legislative Reference Bureau Library
Hawaii State Public Library System- Publications Distribution Center
UH Manoa Hamilton Library- Serials Department
Governor’s Office
Lieutenant Governor’s Office
Legislative Auditor
Department of Budget and Finance



STATE OF HAWAII
ELECTIONS COMMISSION CHAIR ELECTIONS COMMISSION

February 10, 2021
Elections Commission’s Supplemental Biennial Evaluation of Elections Operation
Pursuant to Hawaii Revised Statutes 8§ 11-8.5, the Elections Commission submits
the following supplemental report concerning the operation of elections.

The Elections Commission recommends that the Legislature prioritize the
following items:

1) Verifiable chain of custody of ballots at every stage of transportation and
handling; and

2) Ensure ballot tracking is in place for the 2022 Elections in coordination
with the United States Postal Service.

Please note that the meeting minutes of the Elections Commission’s
December 15, 2020 and January 21, 2021 meetings may be found at the
following links:

e December 15, 2020: https://elections.hawaii.qgov/wp-
content/uploads/2020-12-15-EC-Reqular-Mtg-Minutes-FINAL.pdf

e January 21, 2021: https://elections.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021 -
01-21-EC-Reqular-Mtg-Minutes-FINAL.pdf

Should you have any questions, you may contact me via email at

I A (in: Scotty Anderson.

Respectfully submitted,

= R C U

F.M. Scotty Anderson
Elections Commission Chair

SAjk
EC-21-002



ECC-25-003

From: Ralph Cushnie (EC)

To: OE.Elections.Commission

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Formal Complaint

Date: Monday, September 22, 2025 5:07:32 PM
Attachments: Formal Complaint.pdf

Hello,

Please put my formal complaint on the agenda in accordance with HAR-3-170-
Subchapter 2

Sincerely,

Ralph Cushnie



To STATE OF HAWAI'l
ELECTIONS COMMISSION

FORMAL COMPLAINT
Filed pursuant to HAR §3-170, Subchapter 2

Complainant:
Ralph Cushnie, Elections Commissioner

Respondent:
Office of Elections / Chief Election Officer Scott T. Nago and Elections Commission

I. INTRODUCTION

This complaint is filed in accordance with HAR §3-170, Subchapter 2, concerning the
administration of the 2024 General Election and subsequent representations made by the
Chief Election Officer, Scott T. Nago. The subject matter involves contradictions between Mr.
Nago's statements to the Elections Commission, the legal requirements of HAR §3-177-453,
and disclosures made under Hawai‘i’s Uniform Information Practices Act (UIPA).

Il. BACKGROUND

On March 17, 2025, Mr. Nago submitted a letter to the Elections Commission purporting to
explain the respective roles of the State Office of Elections and the county clerks. In that
letter, Mr. Nago stated:

“As an example, the counties receive, validate, and track return identification envelopes,
from voters using the statewide voter registration system... The tracking mechanism in the
statewide voter registration system effectuates the language of HAR §3-177-453(b)... In
other words, the ‘form’ is electronic in that the county clerks interact with the statewide
voter registration system for purposes of tracking the issuance, receipt, and spoiling of
ballots.”

He further asserted: “One of the benefits of the roles and responsibilities of election officials
being divided is that it naturally establishes checks and balances of the processes such that
there is no single entity completing all tasks and reconciliation.”

However, a UIPA Notice dated April 30, 2025, confirms that Chief Election Officer Scott T.
Nago is the administrator of the Statewide Voter Registration System (SVRS) and that the
system is “defined, maintained, and administered at the State level.”



lll. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

HAR §3-177-453(b) clearly states:

“The clerk shall maintain a complete and current count of all marksense ballots issued,
spoiled, and received in their county. The accounting of marksense ballots by the clerk shall
be recorded on forms prescribed by the chief election officer.”

HAR §3-177-453(a) further requires:
“The chief election officer or designated representative shall maintain a complete count of
marksense ballots. All ballots shall be safeguarded to prevent mishandling or misuse.”

These provisions establish dual responsibilities—counties must maintain their own
independent accounting, while the Chief Election Officer must also maintain a statewide
count.

IV. CONTRADICTIONS AND GROUNDS FOR COMPLAINT

1. Contradiction of Responsibility

Mr. Nago claims that county clerks fulfill their statutory duty under HAR §3-177-453(b) by
merely “interacting” with the SVRS. The UIPA response confirms that the SVRS is
administered solely by the State, not the counties. Therefore, the counties do not
independently control, maintain, or secure these records.

2. Checks and Balances Undermined

Mr. Nago states that dividing responsibilities ensures checks and balances. Yet, by
centralizing control of the SVRS in his own office, Mr. Nago has effectively eliminated the
counties’ ability to maintain independent records as required by law. This creates the very
“single entity” control he claims does not exist.

3. Improper Documentation Practices

Mr. Nago acknowledges that counties differ in their documentation, some not even
indicating the number of envelopes transferred. Observers were not permitted to verify
envelope counts, only the number of trays, further weakening the chain of custody.

4, Failure to Comply with HAR §3-177-453(b)

By substituting the counties’ statutory obligation to maintain records with State-controlled
electronic entries in the SVRS, the Office of Elections has violated the plain requirement that
counties themselves “maintain a complete and current count” on forms prescribed by the
Chief Election Officer.

V. RELIEF REQUESTED
Pursuant to HAR §3-170-7, the Complainant requests the Elections Commission to:

1. Find that the Office of Elections has violated HAR §3-177-453(b) by substituting State-
controlled SVRS entries for county-maintained records.



2. Direct the Chief Election Officer to prescribe and require counties to maintain their own
independent chain-of-custody records, separate from the SVRS.

3. Require immediate disclosure of all county-level forms documenting ballot issuance,
receipt, spoilage, and transfer for the 2024 General Election.

4. Mandate corrective measures to restore checks and balances by ensuring counties—not
the State alone—maintain legally required ballot accountability records.

Respgctfully submitted,

bk el

Ralph'fiushnie

Elections Commissioner
Date: 2{3,2_ 15-




	01_OE-25-114.pdf (SECURED)
	02_2025-07-16-EC-Regular-Mtg-Minutes
	03_2025-07-30-EC-Regular-Mtg-Minutes
	STATE OF HAWAII ELECTIONS COMMISSION
	ELECTIONS COMMISSION July 30, 2025 at 10:00 AM
	Commissioners in Attendance:
	Support Staff in Attendance:

	PROCEEDINGS

	04_2025-08-27-EC-Regular-Mtg-Minutes
	05_2025-09-21 Cushnie
	06_Final PIG Report 08.27.25
	07_ECC-25-001
	ECC-25-001
	ECC-25-001 a

	08_ECC-25-002
	09_ECC-25-003



